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Mandate

About the National Audit Office

The statutory mandate and responsibilities of the Controller and Auditor-General are provided
for under Article 143 of the Constitution of the United Republic of Tanzania of 1977 and in
Section 10 (1) of the Public Audit Act, Cap 418[R.E 2021]

Mission

NAOT mission,
vision & Motto

Vision

Motto

Independence and
objectivity

We are an impartial public
Institution, §

offering  high-quality audit
services to our clients in an
unbiased manner.

Teamwork Spirit

We wvalue and work
together with intemal
and

extermnal
stakeholders.

Results-Oriented

We focus on
achfevements of reliable,
timely, accurate, useful,
and clear performance
targots,

To provide high-quality audit services
through the modernisation of functions that
enhance accountability and transparency in
the management of public resources.

To be a credible and modern Supreme
Audit Institution with high-quality audit
services for enhancing public confidence,

Modernising External Audit for Stronger
Public Confidence

Professional
competence

Wa deliver high-quality audit
services based on
appropriate professional
knowledge, skills, and best
practices

Integrity

We obsarve and maintain high
othical standards and rules of
law in the delivery of audit
sarvices,

Creativity and
Innovation

We encourage, create,
and  Innovate  value-

adding ideas for the

improvermnent of audit
services,

@ This audit report is intended to be used by Mbeya University of Science and Technology and
may form part of the annual general report, which once tabled to National Assembly, becomes
a public document; hence, its distribution may not be limited.
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1.0 INDEPENDENT REPORT OF THE CONTROLLER AND AUDITOR GENERAL

Chairperson of the University Council,
Mbeya University of Science and Technology
P.C. Box 131,

MBEYA, TANZANIA

1.1 REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Unqualified Opinion

I have audited the financial statements of Mbeya University of Science and Technology, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023, and the statement of financial
performance, statement of changes in net assets and cash flow statement and the statement
of comparison of budget and actual amounts for the year then ended, as well as the notes to
the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly in all material respects,
the financial position of Mbeya University of Science and Technology as at 30 June 2023, and
its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) Accrual basis of accounting and the
manner required by the Public Finance Act, Cap. 348.

Basis for Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with the International Standards of Supreme Audit
Institutions (ISSAls). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
section below entitled “Responsibilities of the Controller and Auditor General for the Audit of
the Financial Statements”. | am independent of Mbeya University of Science and Technology in
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code} together with the National Board of Accountants and
Auditors (NBAA) Code of Ethics, and | have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.

| believe that the audit evidence | have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for my opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in my professional judgment, were of most
significance in my audit of the financial statements of the current period. | have determined
that there are no key audit matters to communicate in my report.
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Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comptises the
Report by those charged with Governance, statement of management responsibility and
Declaration by the Head of Finance but does not include the financial statements and my audit
report thereon which | obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report.

My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, and | do not
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read the other
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work | have performed on the other information that | obtained prior to the
date of this audit report, | conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, | am required to report that fact. | have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial
Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements
in accordance with IPSAS and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to
liguidate the entity or to cease operations or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the entity’s financial reporting
process.

Responsibilities of the Controller and Auditor General for the Audit of the Financial
Statements

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error and to issue an audit
report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISSAls will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with ISSAls, | exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. | also:

+ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances but not for the purpese of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control;

¢ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management,

e Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If | conclude that a material uncertainty exists, | am required
to draw attention in my audit report to the related disclosures in the financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to madify my opinion. My conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my audit report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the entity to cease to continue as a going concern; and

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that | identify during my audit.

| also provide those charged with governance with a statement that | have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on my independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, | determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current
period and are, therefore, the key audit matters. | describe these matters in my audit report
untess law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, | determine that a matter should not be communicated in my report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest of such communication.

in addition, Section 10 (2} of the Public Audit Act, Cap 418 requires me to satisfy myself that
the accounts have been prepared in accordance with the appropriate accounting standards.
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Further, Section 48(3) of the Public Procurement Act, Cap 410 requires me to state in my annual
audit report whether or not the audited entity has complied with the procedures prescribed in
the Procurement Act and its Regulations.

1.2 REPORT ON COMPLIANCE WITH LEGISLATIONS
1.2.1 Compliance with the Public Procurement laws
Subject matter: Compliance audit on procurement of works, goods, and services

| performed a compliance audit on the procurement of works, goods, and services by Mbeya
University of Science and Technology for the financial year 2022/23 as per the Public
Procurement laws.

Conclusion

Based on the audit work performed, | state that, except for the matters described below,
procurement of works, goods, and services by Mbeya University of Science and Technology is
generally in compliance with the requirements of the Public Procurement laws.

Delays in delivery of goods and services and failure by the entity to impose liquidated
damages

Regulation 112(1) of the Public Procurement Regulations 2013 requires a procuring entity to
impose on a tenderer, a liquidated damage for undelivered materials of goods, undelivered or
delayed services or delayed works whereby in the case of procurements of works, 0.10 up to
0.15 percent of the contract value per day up to a sum equivalent to the amount of the
performance guarantee and in the case of procurement of goods or materials, 0.10 to 0.20
percent of the contract value per day of delayed materials or goods, up to a sum equivalent to
the amount of the performance guarantee.

Although the requirements above were properly inciuded in the contract documents, | found
delays ranging from 1 to 120 days in the delivery of goods and items procured worth TZS
371,939,000 from seven vendors and there was no evidences that management invoked the
liquidated damages as agreed on the contract documents.

1.2.2 Compliance with the Budget Act and other Budget Guidelines
Subject matter: Budget formulation and execution

| performed a compliance audit on budget formulation and execution by the Mbeya University
of Science and Technology for the financial year 2022/23 as per the Budget Act and other
Budget Guidelines.
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Conclusion

Based on the audit work performed, | state that Budget formulation and execution by Mbeya
University of Science and Technology is generally in compliance with the requirements of the
Budget Act and other Budget Guidelines.

Charles E. Kichere
Controller and Auditor General,
Dodoma, United Republic of Tanzania,

March 2024, '
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2.0 THE REPORT BY THOSE CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE
2.1 THE NATURE, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGIES OF THE BUSINESS
HISTORICAL BACKGROUND

Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST) is a result of the transformation of Mbeya
Institute of Science and Technology (MIST) through the University Act No. 7 of 2005 and the
Charter of Mbeya University of Science and Technology, 2013. The Institute was a result of the
transformation of the former Mbeya Technical College (MTC) through the National Council for
Technical Education (NACTE) Establishment Order No.9 of 2004 and Section 9 of the NACTE Act
of 1997. MTC was formally introduced on 1 September 1986.

The transition from MTC to MIST and then MUST was carried out to fulfil a long-term plan
conceived during the first phase of government by the late Mwalimu Julius Kambarage Nyerere,
President of the United Republic of Tanzania. To expand and offer services to a wider client
base, in 2015, Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST) acquired a new campus
{MUST Rukwa Campus College- MRCC} in the Rukwa Region.

2.2 VISION, MISSION, FUNCTIONS, MOTO, CORE VALUES

2.2.1 Vision

To become a centre of excellence for knowledge, skills and applied education in science and
technology.

2.2.2 Mission

To develop academically, technologically and socially competent students, staff and other
stakeholders who will be responsive to the broader needs and chalienges of the society.

2.2.3 Functions

The mission is translated into the following concrete functions, which are also clearly
highlighted in the Charter establishing the University:

(a) To provide facilities for study and training in the principles, procedures and techniques
in science, technology, and business management;

(b) To conduct training programmes in the disciplines specified in (a) above;

(c) To engage in applied research and consultancy services to the public;

(d) To sponsor, arrange or provide facilities for conferences and seminars;

(e) To establish colleges, institutes, schools, faculties and departments within the University
for the organization and administration of its work and activities;

(f) To conduct examinations and grant awards of MUST as approved by the relevant
authorities;
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(8) To be a catalyst in science, technology and management reforms through conducting
relevant research and educating the public in science, technology and management
related issues;

(h) To arrange for publication and general dissemination of materials produced in connection
with the work and activities of the University;

(i) To engage in self-reliance activities for effective financing and promotion of
entrepreneurship;

(j)  To establish and foster closer cooperation with Universities, Technical Colleges and other
institutions of tertiary and higher education and promote international cooperation with
similar institutions; and

(k) To do all such acts and things and enter into all such contracts and transactions as are in
the opinion of the Council expedient or necessary for the proper and efficient discharge
of the functions of the University.

2.2.4 Motto
Endeavouring to lead in Science and Technology.
2.2,5 Core Yalues

MUST is committed to attracting and developing excellent staff and students to achieve the
challenging goals, targets and directions set for tertiary and higher education. The following
core values characterize the work and life of the University:

(a) Leadership in innovation and technology;
(b) Culture of excellence;

(c) Diversity and equal opportunities for all;
(d) Partnerships; and

(e) Integrity and stewardship of resources.

2.2.6 Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Mbeya University Council accepts final responsibility for the risk management and internal
control system of the MUST. It is the task of Council to ensure that adequate internal financial
and operational control systems are developed and maintained on an ongoing basis in order to
provide reasonable assurance regarding:

o The effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

» The safeguarding of the MUST's assets;

o Compliance with applicable laws and regulations;

» The reliability of accounting records;

e Business sustainability under normal as well as conditions; and
e Responsible behaviours towards all stakeholders.
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The efficiency of any internal control system is dependent on the strict observance of
prescribed measures. There is always a risk of non-compliance of such measures by staff. Whilst
no systemn, of internal control can provide absolute assurance against misstatement or losses,
the company system is designed to provide the Board with reasonable assurance that the
procedures in place are operating effectively.

The University Council assessed the internal control systems throughout the financial year
ended 30 June 2023 and is of the opinion that they met accepted criteria. The University Council
carries risk and internal control assessment through an audit.

2.3  ENTITY OPERATING MODEL
2.3.1 GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE

The supra level constitutes the University Chancellor and the University Council. The Chancellor
is the Head of the University while University Council governs, controls and administers all
activities of the University. On academic issues, the Council is assisted by the University Senate
which is the principal decision-making organ in all academic matters. The Vice Chancellor is
the Chairperson of the Senate while members are the Principals, Directors, a representative
from the Ministry of Education, Science and Technology (MoEST) and a representative from
students’ organization (MUSTSO).

2.3.2 GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE HIGHER LEVEL

The higher administration level is the top management in the University structure which
spearheads the operations of the University. It comprises the Vice Chancellor (VC) and two
Deputies namely the Deputy Vice Chancellor - Academic, Research and Consultancy {DVC-ARC)
and the Deputy Vice Chancellor - Planning, Finance and Administration (DVC-PFA). The Vice
Chancellor is the Chief Executive Officer of the University.

2.3.3 GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE MIDDLE LEVEL

This level comprises Campus Colleges, Directorates and Centres. Table 1 presents the
composition of the University management structure at middle level:

2.3.4 STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES

A. Health Services improved and HIV/AIDS infections reduced;

B. Effective implementation of National Anti-Corruption Strategy enhanced and sustained;
C. Equitable access and quality of training programmes enhanced;

D. Research, innovation and consultancy services enhanced;

E. Strategic linkage, publicity and internationalization of university programmes
strengthened;

Governance and administration support systems strengthened; and

G. Cross-cutting issues at all levels of University operations mainstreamed

o
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Table 1: University Management at Middle Level

SN

OFFICE

COLLEGES, DIRECTORATES/UNITS AND CENTRES

1s

vC

Directorate
Units

and

(i)
(i)
(ifi)
(iv)
v)
{vi)

Directorate of Quality Assurance

Legal Unit

Information and Communication Unit
Procurement Management Unit

Internal Audit Unit

Internationalization and convocation Unit

DVC-
ARC

Colleges

(i)
(i1)
(iii)
(iv)
v)
(vi)
and
(vii)

College of Engineering and Technology;

College of Science and Technical Education;

College of Humanities and Business Studies;

College of Architecture and Construction Technology;
College of Agriculture, Science and Technology;

College of Information and Communication Technology;

MUST Rukwa Campus College (MRCC).

Directorates

(M)
(if)

(i)

Directorate of Undergraduate Studies;
Directorate of Postgraduate Studies
Publications; and

Directorate of Library Services.

Research and

Centres

(i)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)

Centre for Virtual and Continuing Education;

Rural Technology Park;

Centre for Innovation and Technology Transfer; and
Centre for Gender studies

DVC-
PFA

Directorates

(i)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)

i\
(vi)

Directorate of Planning and Investment;

Directorate of Finance;

Directorate of Estates and Technical Services;
Directorate of Administration and Human Resource
Management;

Directorate of Student Services; and

Directorate of Information and Communication
Technology.

Centres

(i
(i)

Health Centre; and
Media Centre,

Source; MUST annual report 2022/23

SERVICE PERFORMANCE INFORMATION

2.3.5 TEACHING AND LEARNING

The strength of a higher learning institution rests on offering a quality training that prepares
competent graduates in the labour market. This cannot be achieved without availability of
appropriate environment for production of such graduates. During the reporting period
2022/23, the University continued to carry out its primary objective by offering top-notch
training at the undergraduate and postgraduate levels through a variety of academic
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programmes. Teaching and learning activities throughout the reporting period are highlighted
in the following section.

2.3.6 ACADEMIC PROGRAMMES OFFERED

During the year under review, the University continued to provide training at Certificate,
Diploma, Bachelor, Postgraduate Diploma, Master, and Doctoral levels. As shown in Figure 1,
the University offered a total of 57. The offered programmes were distributed as follows: two
(2) certificates, 25 diplomas, 20 Bachelor, one {1} Postgraduate Diploma, six (6) Master and
three (3) Doctoral programmes. Hence, Certificate programmes accounted for 3% of all
programmes while Diploma, Bachelor, Postgraduate Diploma, Master’s and Doctoral
programmes accounted for 46%, 35%, 2%, 9% and 5%, respectively.

Figure 1: Distribution of Academic Programmes Offered in Academic Year 2022/23 by Level

m CERTIFICATE = DIPLOMA
= BACHELOR = POSTGRADUATE DIPLOMA
= MASTER “ DOCTORAL

3%

Source: MUST admission report 2022723

2.3.7 SHORT COURSES OFFERED

The University continued to offer short courses designed to cater for emerging demands of the
labour market. Through the short courses offered, the University has been able to impart novel
knowledge that addresses challenges in the industry. On the other hand, this has been improving
University revenues streams for smooth operation of its day-to-day activities. During the
reporting period, the University was able to offer 13 short courses through the Centre for Virtual
and Continuing Education.

10
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2.3.8 STUDENTS ENROLMENT

In the academic year 2022/23, the University's total enrolment increased to 9,674 students
which is an increase of 15% as compared to the enrolment of 8,398 students enrolled in the

2021/22 academic year.

Figure 2: Students enrolment trend

Source: MUST admission report 2022/23

STUDENT ENROLMENT
12,000
10,000 9,614
. 8,398
E 8,000 6,817
2 6000 o 5,678
"E! 4,002 4,218
S 4000
i1l
0
2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2015/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23
Academic Year
Table 2: Students Enrolment Academic Year 2022/23
PROGRAMME
YEAR GENDER | CERT. | DIP BACHELOR POSTGRAD | TOTAL | % GENDER
Male 1,331 2,032 3,363 84%
Female 333 306 639 16%
2016/17 Total 1,664 2,338 - 4,002 100%
Male 1,415 2,094 - 3,509 83%
Female 344 365 709 17%
2017/18 Total 1,759 2,459 - 4,218 100%
Male 1,712 2,034 3,746 81%
Female 513 371 884 19%
2018/19 Total 2,225 2,405 - 4,630 100%
Male 2,000 2,457 14 4,471 79%
Female - 675 531 1 1,207 21%
2019/20 Total 2,675 2,988 15 5,678 100%
Male 46 2,403 2,827 31 5,307 78%
Female 41 825 641 3 1,510 22%
2020/ 21 Total 87 3,228 3,468 34 6,817 100%
11
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PROGRAMME
YEAR GENDER | CERT. | DIP BACHELOR POSTGRAD | TOTAL | % GENDER
Male 112 2,640 3,682 25 6,459 77%
Female 54 1,006 875 4 1,939 33%
2021/22 Total 166 3,646 4,557 29 8,398 100%
Male 44 2,509 4,823 63 7,439 77%
Female 37 911 1,282 5 2,235 23%
2022/23 Total 81 3,420 6,105 68 9,674 100%

Source: MUST admission report 2022/23

STUDENTS OQUTPUT

In the reporting period, a total of 2,203 students graduated from the University during the 10%
Graduation Ceremony which took place on 16 December 2022, Of these graduates, two (2)
students received a Master’s degree, two (2) student received a Postgraduate Diploma, 1,036
received a Bachelor's Degree, 1,016 received Diploma degree and 147 received Certificate

degree.

Table 3: Students Output 2022/23

YEAR 2017/18 | 2018/19 | 2019/20 | 2020/21 | 2021/22 | 2022/23
| EERFIFICATE
Female - - = = 31 48
Male - - - - 40 99
Sub-total - - - 71 147
DIPLOMA
Female 83 56 106 135 156 286
Male 237 220 340 429 424 730
Sub-total 320 276 446 564 580 1,016
BACHELOR
Female 55 99 96 117 79 217
Male 406 541 575 528 430 819
Sub-total 461 640 671 645 509 1,036
POSTGRADUATE DIPLOMA
Female - - - - s 5
12
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YEAR 2017/18 | 2018/19 | 2019/20 | 2020/21 | 2021/22 | 2022/23
Male - - - 2 1 2
Sub-total - - - 2 1 2
MASTER’S DEGREE
Female - - - - - 1
Male - - - - - 1
Sub-total - - - - - 2
Doctorate of Philosophy
Female - - - - - -
Male - - - - - -
Sub-total - - - - . -
Total 781 916 1,117 1,211 1,161 2,203
Source: MUST graduation books
Figure 3: Students output trend
STUDENT OUTPUT
1200
‘g 1000 &l
3 800 5 :
£ 600 I i ;
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MASTER’S DEGREE m POSTGRADUATE DIPLOMA m Doctorate of Philosophy
Source: MUST graduation books
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2.3.9 ACCADEMIC STAFF TO STUDENT RATIO

During the reporting period, the staff-student ratio was 1:26, which was less than the staff-
student ratio in the academic year 2021/22 (1:29). In this regard, the University will need to
consider employing more academic staff as student enrolment grows s¢ as not to go beyond the
required standard of 1:30 for Science and Technology programmes as per TCU guidelines.

Table 4: Staff-Student Ratio

Year 2018/19 | 2019/20 | 2020/21 | 2021/22 | 2022/23

Students 4630 5723 6,817 8,398 9,674
Academic staff 321 342 331 294 366
Staff - student ratio 1:14 1:17 1:21 1:29 1:26
Required staff-student ratio 1:30 1:30 1:30 1:30 1:30
Gap NIL NIL NIL NIL NIL

Source: Quality Assurance reports

2.3.10 PRACTICAL TRAINING

Industriat practical training (IPT) is a crucial component of the MUST educational experience.
It gives students the chance to apply the knowledge they have learned in the classroom to
actual practices while giving industrial stakeholders access to a pool of human resources
prepared for the workforce. During the reporting period, a total of 6,558 students secured
placements in various institutions.

Also, the Apprenticeship Training Programme funded by the Government through the Prime
Minister’s Office (Policy, Parliament, Labour, Youth, Employment and Persons with Disability)
which commenced on 6 June 2022 came to its completion on 7 February 2023. Overall, 76
successful candidates completed the six-month training at MUST and Practical Training at
workplace for two (2) months and were awarded certificates on 17 March 2023.

2.4  CONSULTANCY AND OUTREACH SERVICES
2.4.1 CONSULTANCY PROJECTS

Through its subsidiary Company, Consultancy Bureau Limited, the University was able to secure
6 consulting projects for the 2022/23 fiscal year amounting to TZS 1,529.9 million. The number
of consulting projects that was undertaken for the past five years is highlighted in Table 5.

Table 5: Consultancy projects undertaken for the past five years

YEARS No. OF CONSULTANCY PROJECTS TOTAL VALUE OF CONSULTANCY (TZS)

2018719 45 6,618,225,871
2019720 7 4,503,797,286
2020/21 8 911,309,025
2021/22 48 1,676,564,679
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YEARS No. OF CONSULTANCY PROJECTS TOTAL VALUE OF CONSULTANCY (TZS)
2022/23 6 1,529,939,820
Total 72 13,563,272,002

Source: MCBL reports

2.4,2 CONSTRUCTION PROJECTS

The University secured 7 construction projects from a variety of sectors for the 2022/23 fiscal
year through its subsidiary Company, a construction company (MCB Company Ltd). The number
of projects and the contract amount for the past five years are shown in Table 6.

Table 6: Construction projects undertaken for the past five years

NUMBER OF CONSTRUCTION TOTAL VALUE OF CONSTRUCTION
YEAR PROJECTS (TZS)
2018/19 : .
2019/20 8 4,405,906,214
2020/21 14 8,320,836,938
2021/22 23 5,664,606,799
2022/23 9 6,430,097,707
Total 54 24,821,447,658

Source: MCBL reports

OUTREACH SERVICES

In the reporting period, the University was involved in a range of activities in its endeavour to
enhance its services to the public. The University hosted Academy for Women Entrepreneurs
(AWE) training programme sponsored by American Embassy, and its graduation ceremony was
on 3 October 2022, in attendance among others were the Speaker of the National Assembly and
the Ambassador of the American Embassy. Also, the University participated in four (04) national
exhibition events including: Nane Nane farmers exhibition held in the first week of August 2022
at John Mwakangale grounds, Mbeya; the Tanzania Commission for Universities exhibition held
at Mnazi Mmoja grounds, Dar es Salaam; and MAKISATU innovation exhibition held in April 2023
at Dodoma, and NACTVET exhibition held at Sheikh Amri Abeid Grounds in Arusha.

2.5 RESEARCH, PUBLICATIONS, AND INNOVATION
2.5.1 RESEARCH

During the reporting period the University planned to conduct and complete 26 research
projects of which 15 were financed by other donors, out of these 6 were completed while 11
research projects financed by the University of which 3 project were completed equivalent to
35%.

Research and Development (R&D) has been proved critical factor in moving the world's
technological frontiers while also facilitating new technological and scientific innovations. There
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have been significant research initiatives by university members during the reporting period.
During the reporting period the University managed to conduct two public lectures with themes
“Towards addressing challenges of informal settlements in urban centres” and "Intelligent
Design” presented by Prof. Livin Mosha from Ardhi University and Prof. Kjell. J. Tveter from
Norway respectively.

2.5.2 PUBLICATIONS

The University academic staff were encouraged to submit their research findings to the MUST
Journal of Research and Development (MJRD for publication) and other journals worldwide.
During the reporting period the University planned to publish 120 research articles while
managed to conduct and publish 124 research articles papers (2022/23) were published by the
University academic staff equivalent to 103%.

2.5.3 RESEARCH GRANTS

MUST allocated TZS 150 million for research activities, there were eight (8) MUST staff who
won the grant (MUST internal call grant) in 2022/23. Below are titles of the research project
financed by MUST;

i Assessment of Water Quality of Water Source Points for Domestic use in Mbarali

District, Mbeya Tanzania;

ji. Options for Improving In-Basement Mobile Phone Network Coverage at MUST;

iii. Development of Biogas Plant for Domestic use in Rural Areas: A case of Kaengesa
Seminary Secondary School;

iv. Assessment of Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices in Relation to Mycotoxins
Contamination and Exposure in Tanzania: A Case of Southern Highlands Regions;

V. Assessment of Patient’s Absorbed Dose Undergoing Digital Chest X-Ray Machine at
Mbeya Zonal Referral Hospital;

vi. The Role of Non- Farm Activities in Rural Community for Poverty Reduction in Rukwa
Region: A Case of Sumbawanga Rural District;
vil. Pollinators for Life: Mapping and Managing Pollinators to improve Livelihood in
Mbeya, Tanzania; and
viii. Assessment of Challenges on Escape Route Designs in High Rise Hospital Buildings in
Tanzania.

2.5.4 RESEARCH PROJECTS

The University undertakes different research projects in various disciplines, particularly in the
fields of science and technology. There have been numerous research initiatives by university
staff members despite the fact that the allocated funds for research activities were insufficient.

On an annual basis, the funds allocated for research activities were generated primarily from
the internal source of the University coffers, with only small portion coming from external
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sources. The University will continue to seek new avenues of research funding to build staff
capacity and ability in conducting research activities.

From the past five years a total of 83 research projects were undertaken while in the reporting
period, seventeen (17) research projects were undertaken (2022/23). Details are presented in

Table 6.

Table 7: Number of research projects undertaken at MUST
YEAR 2018/19 | 2019/20 | 2020/21

2021/22 | 2022/23 Total

Number of projects 20 14 26 17 83

Source: MUST Senate reports

Figure 4: Research Project Trends

Research project
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Source: MUST Senate reports

2.5.5 TREND OF PUBLICATIONS

The University researchers publish their research findings in peer-reviewed journals,
conference proceedings, books, and book chapters. Trends over the last five years indicates
that a total of 262 journal papers, 40 workshop papers and 7 books were published. During the
reporting period a total of 90 journal papers and 5 workshop papers were published as presented
in Table 8.

Table 8: Publication records

NO, OF JOURNAL | NO, OF WORKSHOP | BOOKS/BOOK
YEAR PAPERS PAPERS CHAPTERS TOTAL
2018/19 37 9 0 46
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NO. OF JOURNAL | NO. OF WORKSHOP | BOOKS/BOOK
YEAR PAPERS PAPERS CHAPTERS TOTAL

2019/20 30 11 5 46
2020/21 36 15 0 51
2021/22 69 0 2 71
2022/23 90 5 0 95
TOTAL 262 40 7 309

Source: MUST Senate report

2.5.6 INNOVATION HIGHLIGHTS

During the reporting period, the University was able to register 62 innovative ideas from
students under the Centre for Innovation and Technology Transfer (CITT). The innovators were
subjected to a pre-incubation programme where they received training on how to conduct
market validation of their innovative ideas, preparation of business plans, management of
intellectual property, and compliance to other legal frameworks. After the pre incubation
programme, 17 innovations qualified for incubation programme hosted at the University. The
innovations will provide solutions in agriculture, health, land use, and education.

On the other hand, other technologies that are still in prototype stage includes medical delivery
drone designated to address medical supply chain. With the speed capacity of 70 kilometres
per hour, it has ability to reach the remote community and other areas with a poor or even
non-existent delivery network. Another prototype is the smart pre-paid water meter designed
to achieve water usage equity and economic benefits for both consumers and water supply
authorities. In the reporting period, 40 water meters were fabricated and installed in different
sites in Mbeya, Songwe, Rukwa, Katavi, Iringa, Njombe, and Songea. Further improvements are
being done following comments from Weights and Measures Agent.

2.6 CURRENT AND FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PERFORMANCE

2.6.1 CURRENT FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
i. BUDGET

During the period under review, the total university budget was TZS 72,780,264,021 of which
Government subvention was TZS 58,589,955,676 includes Other Charges was 2,057,401,543,
Personal Emolument was TZS 15,728,193,000 and Development was TZS 40,804,361,133. On the
other hand, own source budget was TZS 14,190,308,345 includes other charges TZ5

9,745,111,387 And Development TZS 4,445,196,958.
ii, REVENUE

During the year, the University recorded a total revenue of TZS 55,561 million compared to TZS
44,480 million for the year 2022, this shows the increase of TZS 11,081 million which is
equivalent to the increase of 25%. The approved internal revenue budget of the university was
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TZS 14,190,308,345 As at 30 June 2023, University successful collected TZS 12,367,754,490
which is equivalent to 87% of the budget approved.

EXPENDITURE

During the year, the University recorded a total expenditure of TZS 45,421 million compared to
TZS 35,614 million for the year 2022, this shows the increase of TZS 9,808 million which is
equivalent to the increase of 28% this increase is due to execution of HEET Project.

ii. PERFORMANCE REVIEW

During the year, the University recorded a total revenue of TZS 55,561 million (2022/23)
includes MUST TZS 44,242 million, HEET Project TZS 3,359 million and Subsidiaries TZS 7,960
million and expenses amounting to TZS 45,421 million (2022/23) includes MUST TZS 37,784
million, HEET Project TZS 2,953 million and Subsidiaries TZS 7,637 million.

This is set out in the Statement of Financial Performance for the year ended 30 June 2023.

iv. RECEIVABLES

The receivables increased by 45% from TZS 1,434 million as at 30 June 2022 to TZS 2,604 miltion
as at 30 June 2023. The increase was mainly attributed by subsidiaries receivables from their
clients.

V. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

The balance of cash and cash equivalent has decreased by 13% from TZS 28,530 million as at 30
June 2022 to TZS 24,844 million as at 30 June 2023. The decrease was mainly attributed by the
execution of HEET Project and execution of laboratory and workshop projects.

vi.  PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

The payables and accruals have increased by 40% from TZS 3,138 mitlion as of 30 June 2022 to
5,223 as of 30 June 2023. The increase has been significantly caused by students’ payables due
to loans allocation provided by HESLB when the students already paid the fees as private and
advanced received by subsidiaries from their clients.

2.7 CURRENT DEVELOPMENT PROJECTS
2.7.1 CONSTRUCTION OF LIBRARY BUILDING PHASE Il

The objective of this project is to increase the University's capacity to establish a library to
enhance the teaching and learning environment. Once this project is completed, the University
will have a library facility that can accommodate 2,500 users at a time. Construction of library
building was completed while completion of snag works was on progress and execution was by
30%.

19

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



Figure 5: Library building
2.7.2 CONSTRUCTION OF WORKSHOPS/LABORATORIES

During the period the University was executing construction of workshops/laboratory blocks.
The project was initiated as a means to improve training by doing particularly in science and
technical education programmes. Construction activities were in progress and execution was
by 99%.
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Figure 5: Construction of workshops/laboratories
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2.7.3 CONSTRUCTION OF STUDENTS’ HOSTELS

During the reporting period the University continued with construction of students’ hostels
project. The project's goal is to enable the University to provide accommodation services to
entire community of students. However, due to limited resources only 2,100 students can be
accommodated in-campus at Main Campus. Completion of this project will increase
accommodation capacity by 800 students, making a total capacity of 2,900 students. This calls
for private partners to invest in student hostels through Public Private Partnership (PPP)
arrangement. During this financial year construction of students’ hostel blocks was on progress
and its execution was by 75%.

= T3
ety o R e

Figure 6: Construction of students’ hostel
2,8 FUTURE DEVELOPMENT PLANS

The plans, which are picked from the MUST Strategic Plan for the years 2022/23- 2026/27, are
intended to hasten the achievement of its objectives while maximizing the use of the
University’s human, financial, and physical resources. During the upcoming fiscal year 2023/24,
the University wants to continue carrying out the following plans that are carried over from the
2022/23 fiscal year:

1. To increase student enrolment to meet national demand and continue to ensure that
students’ needs are met, staff careers are developed and communities remain confident
that MUST is the centre for innovation that enables our collective future success.

2.  To improve the working/study environment by:

i. Acquisition of modern working tools, equipment and machines for training
laboratories and workshops;
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ii. Acquisition of sufficient technical and training materials;
iii. Establishment of incubation centres;
iv. Rehabilitation and improvement of existing buildings, fixtures and other
amenities;
v. Acquisition of modern scientific and technological data, literature and books
relevant to existing demand and projected demand of the curricula;
vi. Completion of the construction and furnishing the New Library building;
vii. Construction of Workshops/Labs at the main Campus;
viii. Construction of one Complex Academic Block at the main Campus and MUST
Rukwa Campus College;
ix. Construction of Center for Innovation and Technology Transfer; and
X. Completion of the construction of New Students Hostel for the expanded
enrolment.
3. Enhance existing relations at district, regional, national and international levels and
establish areas of cooperation with new institutions
4. Implementation of policy on combating HIV/AIDS, in collaboration with the local
community surrounding the University and other national and international organizations.

2.9 KEY STRENGTHS AND RESOURCES
The University has the following key strength and resources:
2.9.1 HUMAN RESOURCES

The University has skilled and experienced employees who are considered as key resources in
pursuing its strategic objectives. At 30 June 2023, the University had a total of 703 staff with
diverse experiences and competencies as summarized in Table No. 9 below.

Table 9. Number of staff and Qualification at MUST as at 30 June 2023

S/N QUALIFICATION MALE FEMALE TOTAL
1. PhD 56 3 64
Z, Master’s Degree 185 56 241
3. Bachelor Degree 196 71 267
4. Diploma 46 42 88

5. Certificate 32 11 43
TOTAL 515 188 703

Source: DAHRM reports
COOPERATION AND SUPPORT FROM STAKEHOLDERS

The University has established and maintains a harmonious relationship with its internal and
external stakeholders. The University receives cooperation and strong support from suppliers
of goods and services and consumers of its products and services. Specifically, the University
receives continuous support from the Government of Tanzania through the Ministry of
Education, Science and Technology, Office of Treasury Registrar, Ministry of Finance, Higher
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Education Students' Loans Board, The Parliament of the United Republic of Tanzania,
Development Partners, the surrounding community and the general public.

Also, the University has established working relationships with various regulatory authorities
like the Tanzania Commission for Universities (TCU), National Council for Technical Education
(NACTE), National Board of Accountants and Auditors (NBAA), Public Procurement Regulatory
Authority {PPRA), and the Tanzania Revenue Authority (TRA), Engineers Registration Board
(ERB), Architects and Quantity Surveyors Registration Board (AQRB).

2.10 FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
The University’s sources of revenue consist of:

(i) Government subvention for personal emoluments (PE), other charges (OC) and
capital development;

(ii) MUST internally generated income that is collected from students’ fees,
accommodation, short courses, rental fees, construction company, consultancy
company and academic consultancies;

(iif) Subvention consisting of grants received from development Partners;

(iv) Dividend from subsidiary companies; and

(v) Collection from radio

2.11 INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGY (ICT)

Nowadays ICT is an important enabler in service delivery. This is the reason why the University
has continuously invested in technology to realize operational excellence and better service
delivery to our customers. The University has modest internet and intranet connectivity within
its campuses. The University also continues to promote innovation, adoption and utilization of
ICT in developing management-and business solutions to support human capital development
by preparing students to become active, creative, knowledgeable, and ethical participants in
the global connected society.

2.12 CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITES

MUST operates in an environment rich with opportunities to foster its development. In order to
realize its vision of becoming the premier centre of excellence for knowledge, skills, and
applied education in Science and Technology, the University intends to keep identifying and
maximizing opportunities. There are, however, a number of obstacles that, if not properly
recognized and overcome, may stand in the way of its success. The following opportunities and
difficulties were noted during the reporting year

2.12.1 OPPORTUNITIES

i Goodwill from the Government and other stakeholders in terms of moral, material
and financial support;
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ii. Government initiatives to promote Science, Technology and Innovation (5TI)

activities;
fii. Very supportive policies on technical education and training related issues;
iv. Clear need for practical oriented engineers/technologists;
V. Introduction of the Structured Engineers Apprenticeship Programme (SEAP);
vi. Implementation of mega projects in transportation, education, energy,

telecommunication, mining and health sector creates more opportunities for
graduate engineers and scientists;

Globalization (competitive pressures forcing companies to improve/update
products and services more frequently and optimize production processes);

vii.

viii. Increased utitization of ICT in the country;
ix. Some new technologies have not been adequately addressed by local institutions;
X. Presence of socic-economic environment in the Country that is attractive for
consultancy assignments;
Xi. Economic growth and hence an increase in formal engineering employment and
self-employment;
Xii. Government affirmative action to promote industrial economy; and
xiii. Increasing demand for science and technology education and training.
2.12.2 CHALLENGES

i. Limited female applicants to the University;

ii.  Competition from similar institutions within the East African Cooperation and the
SADC Region;

iii.  Online courses delivered by other institutions which may be more attractive to
potential students than the similar face-to-face courses offered by the University;

iv.  Low level of economic growth to support STI activities and ICT development;

v. Low private sector participation in STI; and

vi.  Lack of financial resources to train enough number of staff.

2.12.3 PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINITIES

The principal risks that may significantly affect the University’s strategies, programs and
development are:

Table 10: Principal risks and uncertainties
Description of risk

Mitigation

Market and competition

The University operates in a highly competitive
environment and faces competition from a broad
range of Institutions/colleges.

The Government has changed its admission
system from the Central Admission System
managed by the Government to having higher

The University continues to make significant
investments in innovation and work on establishing
curricular that meet the current market demand.
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Description of risk

Mitigation

learning institutions admit their own students.
This creates more competition in the market.

Construction Projects

The University invests in significant capital
expenditure projects in order to continually
drive the business forward.

The failure to deliver key projects effectively
and efficiently could result in significantly
increased project costs and impede our ability to
execute our strategic plans.

Most of the projects are implemented through
Force account using internal experts to minimize
costs of project management.,

Technology

A significant failure of IT infrastructure or key IT
system results in loss of information, inability to
operate effectively and/or financial or other
regulatory penalties.

Controls include a technology strategy outlining a
number of approved technology policies and
procedures. The Technology leadership team
provides central governance across major project
approval, configuration changes, application
updates and the development of hew systems.
Technology assessments are performed on an
ongoing basis to identify further areas of need and
opportunities for improvement. Also, the
University is in the process of establishing data
recovery centre at e-GA.

Liquidity risk

Failure to collect revenue including student fees
timely while improper prioritization of short-
term obligations to be paid may lead to this
worse situation

Proper management of the cash flow and timely
actions to improve spending can help mitigate
these risks. Operational efficiency within the
institutions needs to be increased, in regard to
collecting customer payments, paying expenses
and debts

Reputational risk

Unaccountability of staff within institution may
cause deterioration of services provided
including quality of training provided

To ensure that institution accept responsibility for
any mistakes or errors. It's critical to demonstrate
accountability to rebuild public trust and the
institutions reputation. Maintain a cheerful
disposition. It's critical to maintain a positive tone
in the institution messaging.

2,13 STAKEHOLDERS’ RELATIONSHIP

The University maintained strategic partnerships with industries, the Government, and other
development partners. During the reporting period, the following Memoranda of Understanding

{MoUs) were signed:

i. Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and
Technology (MUST) and YARA Tanzania Ltd;

ii.

Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and

Technology (MUST) and Tanzania Engineering and Manufacturing Design Organisation

(TEMDO);
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fii. Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and
Technology (MUST) and Tanzania Agriculture Research Institute (TARI);

iv. Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and Southern
Methodox University Dallas (SMU);

V. Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and Chuka
University in Kenya; and

vi. Memorandum of Understanding between Mbeya University of Science and
Technology (MUST) and The University of Texas Rio Grande Valley (UTRGY)

2.14 CAPITAL STRUCTURE AND TREASURY POLICIES
2.14.1 OWNERSHIP/SHAREHOLDING

MUST is wholly owned by the Government of the United Republic of Tanzania. The net assets
as at 30 June 2023 amounted to TZS 45,139 million (2022 TZS: 34,999 million).

2.14.2 SURPLUS AND RESERVES

The surplus and reserves of the University are not available for distribution. Such surplus and
reserves whenever they are available are exclusively and wholly used for financing future
operations and development of the University. The surplus for the year as compared to previous
year is as shown below:

Table 11: Surplus and reserves

2022/23 2021/22
TZS TZS
Surplus for the year 10,139,448,897 8,866,453,235

2.15 SOLVENCY

The University Council confirms that applicable accounting standards have been followed and
that the financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis. The Council has
reasonable expectation that Mbeya University of Science and Technology will have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.

The University’s total assets were worth TZS 70,239 million as at 30 June 2023 compared to TZS
66,175 million as at 30 June 2022 and total liability as at 30 June 2023 was TZS 25,101 million
as compared to TZS 31,176 million on 30 June 2022.

The University’s state of affairs as at 30 June 2023 is shown in the accompanying statement of
financial position. The statement of financial position as at 30 June 2023 showed a net
asset/equity of TZ5 45,139 million as compared to TZS 34,999 million as at 30 June 2022, which
indicates that the University was a going concern. The Council considers the University to be
solvent based on the working capital position.
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2.16 CASH FLOWS

The University major source of cash flow was from operating activities, which was attributable
to increase in enrolment of the number of students, consultancy activities and government
subvention for operating activities, amounting to TZS 42,092 million. The funds generated in
2023 was mainly utilised to increase the University’s investment including construction of
student hostels, laboratories and workshops, library and procurement of laboratory equipment.
Such investment activities are the major factors explaining the University's movement in cash
flow generated from operations.

The University’s cash projections indicate that future cash flows will mostly be generated from
Government subventions and tuition fees being the core activity of the University. The
University will continue to implement different strategies to mobilise fees payments and
maintain sound liquidity position to meet its cash flow commitments.

2.17 LIQUIDITY

The University places a strong emphasis on managing liquidity risk and daily cash flows, which
is governed by the Finance, Planning and Development Committee (FPDC) through the
Directorate of Finance to ensure the University holds sufficient liquid assets to enable it to
continue with its normal operations. The FPDC also manages the University’s exposure to
liquidity risk by ensuring that limits are in line with realistic assumptions and tracking
compliance quarterly.

The University closed the year with liquidity ratio of 1.2:1, which is within the standard liquidity
in the industry. The University does not foresee problems on the liquidity in the next 12 months
which can affect the business operations.

2.18 KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
The University’s KPI sand achievements for the financial year 2022/23 were as follows

Table 12: Key performance indicators

S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
A A: Health Services | Prevent, control | At least two | At least two | Voluntarily
improved and | and treat | seminars on | seminars on | testing and
HIV/AIDS  infections | communicable HIV/AIDS HIv/AIDS counselling
reduced and non- | preventive preventive services  were
communicable education education provided in
diseases. conducted conducted collaboration
annually annually with Dean of
students and
University
dispensary to
students and
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S/N

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

STRATEGIES

CSPTARGETS

ANNUALTARGE
TS

ACHIEVEMENTS

staff

Two awareness
seminar on HIV
AIDS awareness
seminar  were
conducted to
302 staff at Main
campus and 34
staff at Rukwa
campus College,
moreover 12
peer educators
were provided
with training in
a collaboration
with BAYLOR
Tanzania.

Requisite
Health Services
Provided
Annually
June 2023

by

Requisite Health
Services
Provided
Annually
June 2023

by

Medical
treatment
support  were
provided to staff
with health
challenges.
Moreaver 8 staff
was  provided
with  financial
assistance to
attend medical
treatment
locally.

Voluntary
Counselling

and Testing
Services
implemented
annually

Voluntary
Counselling and
Testing Services
implemented
annually

No student or
staff has been
identified
himself/ herself
living with
HIV/AIDS.

MUST
Dispensary
upgraded into
Health Centre
by June 2027

MUST Dispensary
upgraded into
Health Centre
by June 2027

Procurement
and install
health
equipment that
worth TZS
30,158,473 was
done

Effective
implementation

of

Institute

measures on

Corruption free
zone

Corruption free
zone established

Two Awareness
seminar on anti-
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S/N

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

STRATEGIES

CSPTARGETS

ANNUALTARGE
TS

ACHIEVEMENTS

National
Corruption
enhanced
sustained

Strategy

Anti-

and

prevention and
combating
corruption

established by
Institutionalizi
ng anti-
corruption
policy at all
levels by June
2027.

by
Institutionalizin
g anti-
corruption
policy at all
levels by June
2027.

corruption
issues
successfully
conducted, The
University in
collaboration
with PCCB
Mbeva  Region
managed to
conduct
awareness
seminar to 147
staff while 324
students were
attended
awareness
seminar during
arientation.

was

Equitable access and
quality of training

programmes
enhanced

Enhance
Undergraduate
and
Postgraduate
programme
quality,
relevance, and
responsiveness.

Students’
enrolment
increased
17% annually

by

Students’
enrolment
increased
17% annually

by

During the
reporting period
a total of 9,674
students were
registered. A
total of 81 were
registered at
Certificate level
where 37 are
female students
and 44 are male
students. At
Ordinary
Diploma level a
total of 3,420
were registered
of which 911 are
female students
and 2,509 are
male students.
At Bachelor
Degree level a
total of 6,105
students were
registered
where 1,282 are
female students
and 4,823 are
male students.
Also, for
Postgraduate

programmes a
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS

total of 68
students were
registered
where by 53
students are
male and 5 are
female
compared in the
financial year
2021/22, 29
students
registered for
postgraduate
programmes, SO
there is 134%
increase

Academic Academic Tanzania

programmes to | programmes 0 | commission  of

address

address

University (TCU)

strategic strategic labour

labour market | market needs | approved three

needs increased from | programmes

increased from | 47 to 100 by namely:

47 to 100 by | June 2027. y;

June, 2027. Bachelor of
Science in
Environmental
Science and
Technology,
Bachelor of
Science in
Biotechnology
and Bachelor of
Science in
Chemistry. to be
offered by MUST
in the academic
year 2023/2024.

Five (5) | Five (5) | Two (2)

workshops for | workshops  for | workshop

university staff | university staff | stakeholders

training on QA | training on QA | meeting on
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
aspects by June | aspects by June | quality
2027 2027 assurance
matters was
successfully
conducted, 177
stakeholders
participated.
To conduct | To conduct | Academic self-
academic audit | academic audit | assessment will
to improve | to improve | be conducted in
teaching and | teaching  and | 2023/2024
learning by | learning by June | academic year
June 2027 2027
Enhance Enhance During the
monitoring of | monitoring  of | period under
students’ students’ review a total of
performance performance by | 9,383 Students
by June 2027 June 2027 were conducted
end of
semesters
examinations
and other
continues
assessment
Improve Three (3) | Three (3) | Preparation of
infrastructure academic academic designs and bill
and facilities | complex complex of quantities for
that buildings buildings building to be
accommodate constructed constructed and | conducted
people with | and furnished | furnished by | under HEET
special needs by June 2025 June 2025 project has
been done.
There are 2
academic
buildings to be
constructed
under HEET
project one at
main  campus
and other at
MRCC,
Five (5) | Five (5) | Rehabilitation
Students’ Students’ hostels | of existing
31
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
hostels to be | to be | hostel
rehabhilitated rehabilitated by | facilities were
by June 2027 June 2027 done
At least 10% of | At least 10% of | Repair  and
internally internally maintenance
generated fund | generated fund | of University
allocated for | allocated for | infrastructure
rehabilitation rehabilitation s has been
annually annually conducted.
Installation of
led tube light
to all
University
buildings were
done also 18
classes and 2
lecture
theatres were
repainted
Three (3) new | Three (3} new | Preparation of
cafeterias  to | cafeterias to be | drawings and
be Constructed | Constructed by | Bill of
by June 2027. | June 2027. Quantity
(BoQ) for
cafeteria to
be
constructed at
MUST  main
campus is on
progress
Two (2) hostels | Two (2) hostels | The University
that  support | that support | managed to sign
people  with | people with | a contract with
special needs | special needs to | suppliers of
constructed be constructed | fumiture  and
and furnished | and furnished by | submission  of
by June 2024. | June 2024, contract to
Ministry of
Education,
Science and
Technology for
fund
disbursement
were done
D Research, innovation | Enhance At least 24 | At least 24 | During the
32
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
and Consultancy | publications and | Research Research output | reporting
service enhanced dissemination of | output disseminated by | period the
research disseminated June 2027 University
findings and | by June 2027 planned to
innovations publish 120
research
articles while
managed to
conduct and
publish 124
research
articles
At least 2% of | At least 2% of | During the
the annual | the annual | reporting
University University period, 26
revenue revenue research
allocated  to | allocated to | projects were
support support conducted  of
research and | research and | which 15 were
innovation innovation financed by
activities by | activities by | other  donors,
June 2027 June 2027 out of these 6
were completed
while 11
research
projects
financed by the
University of
which three
project  were
completed.
MUST  Library | MUST  Library | During the
upgraded  to | upgraded to | reporting
include include offering | period, library
offering academic and | services were
academic and | research provided to
research activities (in | user properly.
activities  (in | addition to | Procurement
addition to | providing library | of Library
providing services) by | books that
library June 2027 worth TZS
services) by 80,766,247
June 2027 was done,
Three (3} new | Three (3) new | The University

collaborative

collaborative

has MOUs with

33

Controller and Auditor General

AR/MUST/2022/23



PSP P R PAICI I PP
S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
partnerships partnerships 48 in various
with  industry | with industry to | aspects
to commercialise institutions  of
commercialise | applicable which 30
applicable research and | institutions are
research  and | innovation local and 18
innovation findings institutions are
findings established by | international.
established by | June 2027 The University
June 2027 continued o
develop 5
innovations
through Centre
of  Innovation
Transfer
Technology,
namely Prepaid
water meter, Bi
Shamba, Leo leo
Gulio Smart,
MUST drone
ECO-EDU, these
innovations
developed to
solve
community
challenges.
MUST Research | MUST Research | MUST
and innovation | and innovation | Research and
week expanded | week expanded | Innovation
to include local | to include local | week was
and and conducted at
international international MUST Main
stakeholders stakeholders campus by
starting June | starting June | presenting
2027 2027 various
research and
innovations
projects.

E Strategic linkage, | Enhance To participate | To participate in | The University
publicity and | collaborative in 6 exhibitions | 6 exhibitions | participated in
internationalization and linkage | annually annually nanenane and
of University | activities with TCU exhibition,
programmes local, national women day,
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S/N

STRATEGIC
OBJECTIVE

STRATEGIES

CSPTARGETS

ANNUALTARGE
TS

ACHIEVEMENTS

strengthened

and
international
partners

MAKISATU,
NACTVET and
Mayday.  Alse,
the University
celebrates 10th
Anniversary
since its
establishment
as the University
by performing
various
activities.

Market
materials
produced and
disseminated
annually

Market
materials
produced and
disseminated
annually

The
advertisement
of MUST
academic
programmes
for 2022/23
academic year
has been done
through
various media
including
TBC1, Azam
TV, Abood FM,
MUST FM,
Jembe  FM,
Mlimani TV,
Clouds FM,
Chem chem
FM, ITv,
Channel Ten,
Upendo TV,
Tumaini TV

Governance
Administration
Support
strengthened

systems

Improve working

environment for

efficient and
effective service
delivery

Institutionalize
Staff Training
and
Development
Policy by June
2023

Institutionalize
Staff  Training
and
Development
Policy by June
2023

The University
continues to
sponsor 244
staff pursuing
further
studies.
Moreover, 302
staff attended
various short
courses,
seminars and
workshops.
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
Number of staff | Number of staff | Remuneration
increased by | increased by | to  contract
50% by June [ 50% by June | staff was
2027 2027 done.
Payment of
subsistence
allowance to
158 new
employees,
Enhancing Enhancing Servicing  and
acquisition, acquisition, repair of
maintenance maintenance vehicles and
and repair | and repair | office machines
services of | services of | were done.
working working Fuel for vehicles
facilities by | facilities by | and generators
June 2027 June 2027 were provided.

Procurement of
working
facilities of the
University was
done

To provide for

To provide for

Administrativ

utilities to | utilities to meet | @  obligation
meet the | the growing | was met
growing needs | needs of the | during the
of the | University by | reporting
University by | June 2027 period.
June 2027
Staff and | Staff and | A total of #1
students students staff
participate in | participate in 10 | participated
10 national | national sports | in SHIMMUTA
sports and | and game | competition in
game competitions Tanga where
competitions annually the University
annually participated
in  football,
volleyball
{men and
women),
basketball and
netball (men
and women),
playing drafts,
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STRATEGIES

CSPTARGETS

ANNUALTARGE
TS

ACHIEVEMENTS

cards,
table
athletes.

pool
and

A total of 30
students
participated
in national
competitions
in Mwanza
where the
University
participated
in  football,
basketball,
netbali,
volleyball,
athletes,
playing drafts,
cards and pool
table.

Staff incentive
schemes
nstitutionalize
d by June,
2027.

Staff
schemes
institutionalized
by June, 2027.

incentive

Administrativ
e obligation
and statutory
payments
were
during
reporting
period.

met
the

To
service
providers
offer
supportive
services
annually

engage

to

To
service
providers

services
annually

engage

to
offer supportive

Qutsourced
services
cleanliness
and security in
the University
campuses
were provided
successfully
and
arrangements
are underway
to provide the
services when
the 2022/23
academic year
commences in
Qctober 2022.

for
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S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS5
Improve Budget Budget The University
strategic preparation, preparation, budget for the
planning, monitoring and | monitoring and | financial year
budgeting, execution execution 2023/24 was
monitoring and | process process approved
evaluation improved by | improved by | while its
capacity June 2027 June 2027 implementati
on
commenced
on 1 July
2023.
Strengthen Institutionalize | Institutionalize | The University
internal good good participated
systems, governance at | governance at | in various
processes and | all level by | all level by June | ministerial
controls June 2027 2027 meetings,
workshops and
seminars.
Staff were
facilitated to
visit other
institutions
for
familiarizatio
n.
Council and
other
management
meetings
were
conducted
during the
period
Risk  register | Risk register | The University
developed developed risk register
annually annually for financial
year 2022/23
has been
updated
Institutionalize | Institutionalized | The University
d financial | financial control | financial
control Mechanisms by | report has
Mechanisms by | June 2027 been audited,
June 2027 moreover the
38
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OBJECTIVE TS
University
awarded with
unqualified
opinion.
Strengthening | Strengthening The Univeristy
Students’ Students’ continues to
Organization Organization facilitate
Administration | Administration various
by 2027 by 2027 students’
activities to
strengthen
students’
organization
To automate | To automate | Various
50% of | 50% of | software for
University University research,
management management training and
services by | services by June | security  for
June 2027 2027 systems were
procured
Enhancing Externally Externally Loan has been
Resource generated generated settled for
mobilization income  from | income from | this financial
strategies funding funding agencies | year
agencies increased by
increased by | 30% annually
30% annually
G Cross-cutting issues at | Enhance Application of | Application of | 40 solar street
all levels of University | Mitigation of | energy energy solar lights for
operations Climate Change | efficiency efficiency main  campus
mainstreamed technologies technologies were procured
promoted at all | promoted at all | while 6 solar
levels by June | levels by June | street lights
2027 2027 were procured
and installed
at Rukwa
Campus
Land use and | Land use and | Preparation of
costed master | costed master | land
plans for all | plans for all | compensation is
MUST land in [ MUST land in | on progress,
place by June | place by June | currently the
2027 2027 Univesity and
Sumbawanga
District Council

39

Controller and Auditor General

AR/MUST/2022/23




Management of

natural disasters

all academic
programmes
are available in
blended or e-
learning
methods by
June 2027

all academic
programmes are
available in
blended or e-
learning
methods by June
2027

VS AP CRDVOR I
S/N STRATEGIC STRATEGIES CSPTARGETS | ANNUALTARGE | ACHIEVEMENTS
OBJECTIVE TS
is at final stage
of preparing
final reports.
Promote At least 70% of | At least 70% of | The University

has identified
ICT facilities to
be used during
training while
the University
provided
training to 27
staff on audio
visual teaching
at Morogoro
while nine (09)
staff attended
training on E-
learning and
instructional
design at Open
University
Tanzania -Dar es
Salaam in May
2023,

2.19 CORPORATE GOVERNANCE MATTERS

a) Responsibility of the Council

The Council is the principal policy making organ of the University vested with the power to
govern and control the University. A summary of key matters discussed and deliberated during

Council meetings include:

{i), MCB CO. LTD policy Amendment 2023;
(i} Discussion of progress of implementation of 2022/23 approved budget;
(iii) Discussion of the Senate’s report on student academic performance reports;
(iv) Approval of auditors’ remuneration and engagement letter;
(v} The Intellectual Property Policy;
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(vi) The Research Ethics Policy and Operational Procedures;

{vii) The Reviewed Gender Policy;

(viii) The reviewed HIV/AIDS and Chronic Non- communicable Diseases (NCDS) policy;
(ix) Special needs Policy and Operational Procedures;

{x) The Revised Annual Procurement plan 2022/23;

(xi) The Revised Incentive Scheme;

(xii) The Reviewed Staff Training Policy and Guidelines

(xiii) The Reviewed Staff Regulations;

(xiv) The proposed Budget for 2023/2024 Financial Year; and

(xv) The Reviewed Audit Committee Charter 2023.

b) Composition of the Council

The Council is composed of thirteen (13) members including the external members and internal
members appointed in accordance with the University charter.

c) Principles on appointment of council members and structure of the Council.

The appointment of Council members is in accordance with the MUST charter that there shall
be a Council of the University which subject to the Act and shall consist of:

e Chairperson who shall be appointed by the President in accordance with the MUST charter;

e Vice Chancellor (ex-officio);

e Deputy Vice Chancellors (ex-officio);

e one member who shall be nominated by the Chancellor;

e representative of the Permanent Secretary of the ministry responsible for Science and
Technology;

e one member of Parliament who shall be nominated by the National Assembly from among
its members;

o one member who shall be nominated by the University Academic Staff Association;

o one member who shall be nominated by the students’ Organization from amongst its
members;

» one Principal representing Constituent College(s) of the university who shall be nominated
by the constituent college(s);

e one member who shall be nominated by the Minister responsible for Finance;

e one member nominated by the Vice-Chancellor representing international advisory bodies;

e one member of the Zanzibar House of Representatives who shall  be nominated by the
Zanzibar House of Representatives;

s one Vice Chancellor representing Public Universities who shall be nominated by the Senate;

e one member who shall be nominated by the Trade Unions at the University; and

o one member representing the private sector.

11
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Except for the Chairman, Vice-Chancellor and Deputy Vice Chancellors, all other members of
the Council shall be appointed by the Minister responsible for Science and Technology in
consultation with the Minister.

Structure and instrument of the council is as per Mbeya University of Science and Technology
(MUST) charter and the independence of the council is as per principles on appointment of
council members.

d) Principle on age limit for the council members

Except for the Chairman whose tenure shall be four years, the tenure of the members of the
Council shall be three years, subject to the member's eligibility for re-appointment for a further
term of three years each.

MBEYA UNIVERSITY OF SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY (MUST)

Table 13: List of University Council members

S/ | Name Institution | Qualification/ | Ag | Date of | End  of | Position
N Discipline e | Appointment/ | Term
Reappointme
nt
1 Hon, Former Master of Artsin | 77 Chairperson
Zakia Minister for | Economics and 10.08.2022 31/07/20
Meghji Finance History 26
2 Prof, MUST PhD (System | 56 | 26.02.2019 25.02.202 | Vice
Aloys Engineering) 4 Chancellor/Ex
Mvuma Official Member
3 Prof. MUST PhD  (Environ. | 63 | 30.11.2022 31.10.202 | Deputy Vice
Godliving Biotechnology) 2 Chancellor -
Mtui ARC/ Ex Official
Member
4 Dr.  John | MUST PhD (Energy | 49 | 13/09/2021 Interim  Acting
P. John Engineering) Deputy Vice
Chancellor/Ex
Official
member
5 Prof. Ministry of | PhD 49 | 12.08.2020 11.08.202 | Member
Maulilio Education (Neurobiology) 3
Kipanyula | Science
and
Technology
6 Prof. University PhD (Electrical | 63 | 12.08.2020 11.08.202 | Member
Bakari of Dar es | Engineering) 3
Mwinyiwi | Salaam
wa
42
Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



77 Ol N R R vaTE LA YT LTS
:‘;ﬁ::‘*t:d’: :4"‘:’:,4::4‘:: M ’ ."": ':.::‘.: .":
S/ | Name Institution | Qualification/ Ag | Date of | End  of | Position
N Discipline e | Appointment/ | Term
Reappointme
nt
7 Prof, Mzumbe PhD (Veterinary | 63 | 04.02.2021 03.02.202 | Member
Lughano University | Science/medici 4
Kusiluka ne, veterinary
Public  Health
and Allied
Science
8 Mr. Abbas | MUST Master of Arts | 50 | 12 /08/ 2020 11/08/20 | Member
Sanga (Rural 23
Development)
9 Dr. Bakari | Vocational | PhD (Computer | 58 | 12.08.2020 11.08.202 | Member
Silima Training Science) 3
Authority
of Zanzibar
(VETA)
10 | Eng. CEQO Ruse | Master Business | 45 | 12.08.2020 11.08.202 | Member
Halima Incorporati | Administration 3
Iddi on Limited
11 | Mr. MUST MSc (Renewable | 49 | 12.08.2020 11.08.202 | Member
Emmanuel Energy) 3
Mwangom
0
12 | Adv. MUST Master of Laws; | 41 | 01.10.2020 Corporate
Lugano Procedural Law Counsel/Secret
Mwakilasa and ary
International
Legal Practice
13 | Mr. David | MUSTSO MUSTSO 28 | June 2022 June 2023 | Member
Godian President-On
studies Bachelor
Degree mn
Mechanical
Engineering

Source: Council reports

Key decision made during the year

Noted the appointments of three Directors namely; Director of Centre for Innovation
and Technology Transfer, Director of Gender Studies and Director of Internationalization
and Convocation;

Noted approval of guideline for Zakia Hamdani Meghii scholarship for female students
pursuing Diploma and Bachelor programmes in Science, Technology, Engineering and
Mathematics (STEM) at MUST,
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2.20

Approve guideline of naming University buildings;

Deliberate of new per diems and extra duty rates;

Approved MCB Receivable guideline;

Noted approval of the operationalization of the College of Agricultural Science and
Technology (CoAST); and

Approved proposed MUST -Incentive Scheme

COMMITTEES OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL

During the financial year ended 30 June 2023 the committees of the Governing Council consisted
of the following:

(1)
(i)
(iii)
(iv)
v)
(vi)
(vii)

2.21

Audit Committee;

Finance, Planning and Development Committee;

Appointment and Human Resource Management Committee for Administrative Staff;
Appointment and Human Resource Management Committee for Academic Staff;
Students Affairs Committee;

Estates and Technical Services Committee; and

MUST Senate

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The primary purpose of the Audit Committee is to assist the Council in discharging its oversight
responsibilities as the Governing Council of MUST.

During the year under review the Audit Committee held four statutory meetings.

Members of the Audit Committee are as follows:

Table 14: List of Audit Committee members

S/N | Name Position Title Institution Qualification/Discipline Age
1 Eng. Halima | Chairperson | CEQ Ruse MBA 45
Iddi Incorporation
Limited
2 Prof. Member Vice University  of | PhD {(Veterinary | 63
Lughano Chancellor Dodoma(UDOM) | Science/medicine,
Kusiluka veterinary Public Health
and Allied Science
3 CPA Chihimba | Member Chief TBS MBA, CPA (T) and ADA 57
Nenyela Internal
Auditor
4 CPA Member Managing GRC Solutions | MBA, CIA, CPA, CRMA, 53
Augustino Director Limited CCSA, and B.Com
Mbogela
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5 CPA.  Frank | Secretary Chief MUST MBA (Finance), CPA (T), | 37
Kindimba Internal BAF
Auditor

Source: Audit Committee report

Key decision made during the year
Reviewed and discussed 2022/23 internal audit reports ;

Review and recommended financial statement for 2021/22 to Council for noting;
Approved Internal Audit Plan;
Approved Internal Audit Charter;
Review and discussed previous year external Audit issues;
Discussed External Auditors engagement letter and plan; and
Approved of Risk framework

2.22

FINANCE, PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

The main activities of the Finance, Planning and Development Committee are to review and
plan for development, responsible for finance, planning and budget matters, review of
supplementary expenditure and recommend to the Council for approval, and determination of
fees and advises on income generation issues.

During the year the Committee held four (4) statutory meetings. Members of the Finance,
Planning and Development Committee are as below:

Table 14: List of Finance, Planning and Development Committee members

S/N | Name Position | Title Institutio | Qualification/Discipline Age
n
1 Prof. Maulilio | Chairper | Council  Vice | MOEST PhD (Neurobiology) 49
Kipanyula son Chairperson
2. Prof. Aloys | Member | Vice Chancellor | MUST PhD (System Engineering) 57
Mvuma
3. Prof. Godliving | Member | Ag DVC-ARC MUST PhD {Environ. | 63
Mtui Biotechnology)
5. CPA. Willieth | Secretar | DF MUST MBA (Finance), Certified | 40
Twilweta y Public Accountant, ADA
6. Mr, Cornel | Member | DPI MUST Master of Business | 47
Msemwa Administration
7. | Mr. Ezekia Layton | Member | MUSTASA MUST Bachelor of Business | 44
Administration with
Education
8. Mr, Emmanuel | Member | THTU MUST MSc (Renewable Energy) 49
Mwangomo
9. | Mr. David Godian | Member | MUSTSO MUST Undergraduate student 28
10. | Dr, Mwajuma | Member | P/CoACT MUST PhD (Civil Engineering) 49
Ligwanda
11. | Ms. Devota Sanga | Member | DAHRM MUST Master of Human Resource | 49
Management
45
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S/N | Name Position | Title Institutio | Qualification/Discipline Age
n
12. | Mr. Imani | Member | D/ICT MUST Master of Science in| 42
Mwalumbwe Computer Science
13. | Dr. Furaha | Member | DISPENSARY MUST Advance Diploma in| 49
Mwangosi Medicine
13. | Adv. Lugano | Member | CORPORATE MUST Master of Laws; | 41
Mwakilasa COUNSEL Procedural Law  and
International Legal
Practice
14. | Mr. Exaud Tarimo | Member | D/RADIO MUST Master in Electronics and | 31
Communication
Engineering
15. | Mr. Augustine | Member | DEAN OF | MUST Master of Arts in| 56
Matem STUDENTS Education
16. | Dr. Buberwa | Member | D/ICU MUST PhD  (Engineering in | 45
Tibesigwa Architecture
17. | Prof. Zacharia | Member | P/CET MUST PhD (Water Resources | 54
Katambara Engineering)
18. | Dr. John P. John | Member | Ag DVC PFA MUST PhD (Energy Engineering) 48
19. | Dr. Juma Ally Member | P/COICT MUST PhD (Information and | 41
Communication
Engineering)
20. | Mr. Disth Japhet | Member | PMU MUST MBA Corporate | 49
Management and Certified
Procurement and Supplies
Professional
21. | Prof. Osmund | Member | P/MRCC MUST PhD (Chemical | 66
Kaunde Engineering)
22. | Dr. Visent Kipene | Member | P/COHBS MUST PhD( Agri Economics) 53
23. | Dr. Lulu Luflenge | Member | P/QA MUST PhD{Extension and | 45
communication
Management)
24, | Dr. Hieronimi | Member | DETS MUST PhD{Materials Science and | 58
Mboya Engineering{structural
materials)
25. | CPA. Frank | Member | CIA MUST MBA (Finance}, CPA (T}, | 37
Kindimba BAF
26. | Dr. Zaharan | Member | D/CITT MUST PhD in Food Science {Post | 41
Mgina Harvest Technology
Major)
27. | Mr. Ivor Ndimbo | Member | D/MCB MUST Master in Technology in | 52
Water Resources
Development
28. | Dr. Muya Mgaza Member | Acting DUS MUST PhD (Geotechnical | 48
Engineering)
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S/N | Name Position | Title Institutio | Qualification/Discipline Age
n
30. | Mr. Novatus | Member | D/Library MUST Master of Arts Information | 56
Luanda studies
31. | Dr.  Mlyashimbi | Member | D/CVCE MUST PhD (Mathematical and | 46
Helikumi Computer Sciences
Engineering)
32. | Philemon Member | Ag Gender | MUST MSc {Mechanical
Mtabilwa Studies Engineering) 40
33. | Dr. Eliezer | Member | P/CoACT MUST PhD (Veterinary Sciences)
Mwakalapa 38

Source: FPDC reports

Key decision made during the year

2.23

Recommendation of University Budget for 2023/24 to the Council;
Recommendation of University fee structure to the Council;

Recommended for approval on contribution of TZS 5000 as membership fee from each
MUST graduate; and
Reviewed and proposed for approval of MCB Company Limited policy

SENATE

The main activity of the Senate is to make decision and approves in respect of all academic
matters of the University both in teaching, research and consultancy and for regulation and
superintendence of the education of the students of the University. During the period under
review the Senate held four (4) statutory meetings. Members of the Senate are as follows: -

Table 15: List of Senate members

S/N | Name Position Title institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
1 Prof. Aloys N, | Chairperson | Vice Chancellor | MUST PhD System Engineering 57
Mvuma
2 Prof. Member Ag DVC-ARC MUST PhD (Environ. | 63
Godliving Y. Biotechnology)
Mtui
3 Prof. Osmund | Member The Principals of | MUST PhD (Chemical | 66
Kaunde University Engineering)
College
MRCC
4, Dr. Zaharan | Member D/CITT MUST PhD in Food Science {(Post | 41
Mgina Harvest Technology
Major)
5 Dr. Yisent | Member CoHBS MUST PhD (Agricultural | 53
Kipene Economics)
6 Prof. Member CET MUST PhD {(Water Resources | 54
Zacharia Engineering)
Katambara
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
7 Dr. John P. | Member Ag DVC PFA MUST PhD (Energy Engineering) | 48
John
8. Dr, Member D/CVCE MUST PhD (Mathematical and | 46
Mlyashimbi Computer Sciences
Helikumi Engineering)
9 Dr. Juma Ally | Member PRINCIPAL ColCT | MUST PhD (Information and | 41
Communication
Engineering)
10 | Dr. Mwajuma | Member PRINCIPAL MUST PhD (Civil Engineering) 49
Ligwanda CoACT
11 | Dr. Tibesigwa | Member DIC MUST PhD  (Engineering in | 45
Buberwa Architecture)
12 | Dr. Muya | Member DUS MUST PhD (Geotechnical | 48
Mgaza Engineering)
13 | Dr.  Ashery | Member DPRS MUST PhD (Agricultural | 54
Mwidege Economics)
14 | Mr. Amani | Member Ag ADMISSION MUST Master of Science in | 50
Jarafu Natural Resources
Simbeye
15 | Mr. Augustine | Member The Dean MUST Master of Arts in| 56
Matem Students Education
16 | Mr. Novatus | Member D/ Library MUST Master of Arts in| 56
Luanda Information studies
17 | Mr. Cornel | Member DPI MUST Master of Business | 47
Msemwa Administration
18 | Mr. Disth | Member H/PMU MUST MBA Corporate | 49
Japhet Management and
Certified  Procurement
and supplies Professional
19 | Dr. Lulu | Member QA MUST PhD  {(Extension and | 45
Lufienge Communication
Management)
20 | Ms. Devota | Member DAHRM MUST Masters in Human | 47
Sanga Resource Management
21 | Mr. Imani | Member DICT MUST Master of Science in | 42
Mwalumbwe computer Science
22 | CPA. Wiltieth | Member DF MUST MBA (Finance), Certified | 40
Tilwetwa Public Accountant
23 | CPA.  Frank | Member CIA MUST MBA (Finance), CPA (T), | 37
Kindimba BAF
24 | Eng. Ivor | Member MCB MUST Master of Technology in | 52
Ndimbo Water Resources
Development
25 | Dr. Hieronimi | Member DETS MUST PhD (Materials Science | 58
Mboya and Engineering
{(Structural materials})
48
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
26 | Mr. Dickson | Member PRO MUST BA Mass Communication 42

Msakazi
27 | Dr. Arthur | Member ILO MUST PhD (Sustainable Energy
Omari Science and Engineering)
28 | Mr. Sakanda | Member One MOEST Master of Arts in| 45
Gaima Representatives Population Statistics
of the Minister (Demography)
to represent
Ministry
responsible for
Higher
Education
29 | Nabahani Member Three Members | MUST Bachelor in Civil | 29
Hussein elected by the Engineering
Students
Organization
30 | James Focus | Member MUST Bachelor in Electrical and | 30
Mayala Electronic Engineering
31 | Anna Kivuyo | Member MUST Diptoma Biomedical | 3]
Engineering
31 | Mr. Member One Member | MUST Master of  Business | 38
Emmanuel elected by Administration
Samuel Academic Staff
Association
32 | Ms. Shamsa | Member One Member | MUST Bachelor of Civil | 38
Nassibu elected by Engineering
Convocation
33 | Adv. Lugano | Secretary Corporate MUST Master of Laws; | 41
T. Mwakilasa Counsel who Procedural Law and
Shall be the International Legal
Secretary to the Practice
Senate

Key decision made during the year

Approved student results for academic year 2022/23 in various academic programmes;
Approved the proposed penalties for 17 students as provided in the University
examination regulations;

Approved the operationalization of the College of Agricultural Science and Technology
(CoAST);

Approved the guideline for Zakia Hamdani Meghji scholarship for female students
pursuing Diploma and Bachelor programmes in Science, Technology, Engineering and
Mathematics (STEM) at MUST;

Proposed for Council approval of special need policy and operational proposal; and
Approved cost of research fund to staff on training under HEET Project.
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2.24 ESTATE AND TECHNICAL SERVICES COMMITTEE

The main activity of the Estates and technical committee is to advise and assist the council on
all matters pertaining to Estates and Technical services of the University. During the period
under review the Estate and Technical Service Committee held four (4) meetings in the
frequency of quarterly basis.

Members of the Estates and Technical Services Committee are as follows below:

Table 16: List of Estate and Technical Services Committee members

S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
1 Prof. Bakari | Chairperson | Appointee  of | University | PhD (Electrical | 63
Mwinyiwiwa the University | of Dar es | Engineering)
Council Salaam
2 Prof.  Aloys | Member vC MUST PhD (System Engineering) | 57
Mvuma
3 Dr. Hieronimi | Member Director of | MUST PhD (Material Science and | 58
Mboya Estate and Engineering  (structural
Technical materials)
Services
4 Dr. John P. | Member Ag DVC PFA MUST PhD (Energy Engineering) | 48
John
5 Ms. Devota | Member DAHRM MUST Masters of Human | 47
Sanga Resource Management
6 Ms. Willieth | Member DF MUST Certified Public | 40
Twilweta Accountant
7 Mr. Augustine | Member DOS MUST Master of Arts in| 56
Matem Education
8 Mr.  Cornel | Member DPI MUST Master of Business | 47
Msemwa Administration
9 Mr. Disth | Member HPMU MUST MBA Corporate | 49
Kibona Management and Certified
Procurement and Supplies
Professional
10 | Mr. Member Representative | MUST MSc (Renewable Energy) 49
Emmanuel from  workers
Mwangomo union
11 | Mr. Joel | Member Representative | MUST 36
Wang’uba from MUSTASA
12 | Mr. Imani | Member DICT MUST Master of Science in | 42
Mwalumbwe computer Science
13 | Adv. Lugano | Member Corporate MUST Master of Laws; | 40
Mwakilasa counsel Procedural Law and
International Legal
Practice
14 | Prof. Osmund | Member P/MRCC MUST PhD {Chemical | 66
Kaunde Engineering)
50
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
15 | Jeremiah Member H/Security MUST Master of Arts in | 45
Majaliwa Officer Education

Source: ETSC reports

Key decision made during the year

Discussed land acquisition and expansion at MRCC (500 hectares); and
Discussed and recommended for approval guideline for naming University buildings.

2.25 STUDENTS AFFAIRS COMMITTEE

The main activity of the Students Affairs Committee is to foresee students’ development,
General counselling, games and sports and students’ affairs. During the period under review
the student’s affairs committee held four (4) statutory meetings in the frequency of quarterly
basis. The Members of the Students Affairs Committee are as follows below: -

Table 17: List of Student Affairs Committee members

S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
1 Dr.  Bakari | Chairperson | Appointee of the | Vocational | PhD (Computer Science) 57
Silima University Training
Council Authority
of Zanzibar
(VTA)
2 Dr. John P. | Member Ag DVC PFA MUST PhD (Energy Engineering) | 48
John
3 Mr, Member Director of | MUST Master of Arts in| 56
Augustine student services Education
Matem
4 Dr.  Visent | Member Senate MUST PhD {Agricultural | 52
Kipene representative Economics)
5 Mr. Gernoth | Member Assistant MUST Masters of Arts in| 54
Sanga Director of Education
Students
Services
6 Mr.  James | Student Representative | MUST Bachelor of Electrical and | 24
Focus Electronic Engineering
Mayalla
7 Mr. Student Representative MUST Bachelor in Civil | 39
Nabahani Engineering
Hussein
8 Mr. Justian | Student Representative | MUST Diploma in Mechanical | 27
Myovela Engineering
9 Mr.  Justus | Student Representative | MUST Diploma Biomedical | 22
Tilwetwa Engineering
51
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline | Age
10 | Mr. William | Student Representative | MUST Master of Science in | 40
Matungwa Environmental  Quality
Sciences
11 Beatrice Member Officer MUST Bachelor of Science in | 50
Makyao responsible for Psychology
guidance  and
Counselling in
the Director of
Student Services
12 | Adv. Lugano | Member Corporate MUST Master of Laws; | 41
Mwakilasa Counsel Procedural Law and
International Legal
Practice
13 | Kenneth Member A representative | MUST Master in  Education, | 54
Mwampashe from an organ Planning and
responsible for Administration
Students
Accommodation
14 | Mr. Furaha | Member Medical Officer | MUST Advance Diploma in| 49
Mwangosi Medicine

Source: SAC reports

Key decision made during the year
Recommended for approval of proposed amendment of students by laws of 2014

2.26 THE APPOINTMENT AND HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE FOR
ACADEMIC STAFF

The main activity of the Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee for
Academic Staff is to formulate human resource management policy, propose staff recruitment,
propose disciplinary action to staff and proposes staff promotion and staff development. During
the period under review the Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee for
Academic Staff held four (4) statutory meetings in the frequency of quarterly basis.

Table 18: List of Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee members for

academic staff
S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline Age
1 Prof. Aloys | Chairperson | Vice MUST PhD (System Engineering) 57
Mvuma Chancellor
2 Prof. Godliving | Member Ag DVC ARC | MUST PhD (Environ. | 63
Mtui Biotechnology)
3 Ms. Devota M. | Member DAHRM MUST Masters of Human Resource | 47
Sanga Management
4 Dr. Visent | Member P/ CoHBS MUST PhD (Agricultural | 53
Kipene Economics)
52
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline Age
5 Dr. Hezron | Member MUSTASA MUST PhD (Chemical Engineering) | 43

Mwakabana
6 Mr.Emmanuel Member THTU MUST MSc (Renewable Energy) 48
Mwangomo
7 Dr. John P. | Member Ag.DVC PFA | MUST PhD {Energy Engineering) 49
John
8 Dr. Muya Mgaza | Member Ag DUS MUST PhD {Geotechnical
Engineering) 48
9 Dr. Juma Ally Member P/COICT MUST PhD  (Information and | 41
Communication
Engineering)
10 | Dr.  Mwajuma | Member P/COACT MUST PhD (Civil Engineering} 49
Lingwanda
11 | Adv. Lugano | Member Corporate MUST Master of Laws; Procedural | 41
Mwakilasa Counsel Law and International Legal
Practice
12 | Prof. Zacharia | Member P/CET MUST PhD  (Water Resources | 54
Katambara Engineering)
13 | Prof. Osmund | Member P/MRCC MUST PhD (Chemical Engineering) | 66
Kaunde
14 | Dr. Eliezer | Member P/COSTE MUST PhD (Veterinary Sciences) 38
Mwakalapa

Source: HMRC reports

2.27 THE APPOINTMENT AND HUMAN RESOURCES MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE FOR
ADMINISTRATIVE STAFF

The main activity of the Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee for
Administrative staff is to formulate human resource management policy, propose staff
recruitment, propose disciplinary action to staff and proposes staff promotion and staff
development. During the period under review the Appointment and Human Resources

Management Committee for Administrative staff held four (4) statutory meetings on a quarterly
basis.

Table 19. List of Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee members for

administrative staff
S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline Age
1 Prof.  Aloys | Chairperson | Vice MUST PhD 57
Mvuma Chancellor {System Engineering}
2 Prof. Member DVC-ARC MUST PhD (Environ. | 63
Godliving Biotechnology)
Mtui
3 Ms. Devota M. | Secretary DAHRM MUST Masters of Human Resource | 47
Sanga Management
53
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S/N | Name Position Title Institution | Qualification/Discipline Age

4 Adv. Lugano | Member Corporate MUST Master of Laws; Procedural | 41
T. Mwakilasa Counsel Law and International Legal

Practice

5 Prof. Osmund | Member P/MRCC MUST PhD (Chemical Engineering) | 66
Kaunde

6 Prof. Member P/CET MUST PhD  (Water Resources | 54
Zacharia Engineering)
Katambara

7 Dr. John P. | Member Ag.DVC PFA MUST PhD {Energy Engineering) 49
John

8 Dr. Juma | Member P/ColCT MUST PhD  (Information and | 41
S.Ally Communication

Engineering)

9 Dr. Mwajuma | Member P/CoACT MUST PhD (Civil Engineering) 49
Lingwada

10 | Mr. Member Chairperson- | MUST MSc {(Renewable Energy) 49
Emrmanuel THTU
Mwangomo

11 | Dr. Visent | Member P/CoHBS MUST PhD (Agricuttural | 53
Kipene Economics)

12 | Dr.  Eliezer | Member P/COSTE MUST PhD (Veterinary Sciences) 38
Mwakalapa

Source: HMRC reports

Key decision made during the year

2.28

Discussed and recommended approval of promotion of two academic staff from lectures
to senior lectures;
Reviewed staff training policy and operational guidelines;
Reviewed recruitment guidelines for teaching staff;
Recommended for Council approval on new per diem and extra duty rates; and
Recommended for Council approval of proposed MUST -Incentive Scheme

MEETINGS OF THE GOVERNING BOARD AND ITS COMMITTEES

The Governing Council held four (4) ordinary meetings during the year ended 30June 2023. In
addition, there were various meetings of the Board committees. All members of the Board
showed willingness to participate, and devoted the time required for the Board meetings.

Below is a summary indicating the number of meetings attended by Members of the
Board/Committee from 1 July 2022 to 30 June 2023.

NUMBER OF MEETINGS
SN | NAME CM | AHRMAD | AHRMAC | SAC AC | FPDC | ETSC | SN
1 Hon. Zakia Meghji 4 N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/JA | N/A | N/A
2 | Prof. Aloys Mvuma 4 4 3 N/A N/A 3 N/A 4
54
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NUMBER OF MEETINGS
SN | NAME CM | AHRMAD | AHRMAC | SAC AC | FPDC | ETSC | SN
3 | Prof. Godliving Mtui 4 4 3 4 N/A 4 4 4
4 | Dr. John P. John 4 4 2 4 N/A 3 4 3
5 | Prof. Mulilio Kipanyula 1 N/A N/A N/A | N/A 4 N/A | N/A
6 | Prof, Bakari Mwinyiwiwa 2 N/A N/A N/A | N/A | N/A 4 N/A
7 | Prof. Lughano Kusiluka 2 3 N/A N/A 1 N/A | N/A | N/A
8 | Mr. Abbas Sanga 3 N/A 3 N/A | N/A | N/JA | N/A | N/A
9 | Dr. Bakari Silima 4 N/A N/A 4 N/A | N/A | N/JA | N/A
10 | Eng. Halima Iddi 2 N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A | N/A | N/A
11 | Mr. Emmanuel Mwangomo 4 4 2 N/A | N/A | N/A 4 N/A
12 | Adv. Lugano Mwakilasa 4 2 2 2 3 4 4 4
13 | Mr. David B. Godian 4 N/A N/A 3 N/A 2 N/A | N/A
14 | Dr. Hezron T. Mwakabona 1 N/A 2 N/A 2 N/A | N/A | N/A
15 | Mr. Augustino Mbogela N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A | N/JA | N/A
16 | CPA. Frank Kindimba N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 4 N/A 3
17 | Eng. Halima Idd N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A | N/A | N/A
18 | CPA. Chihimba Nenyela N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A | N/A | N/A
19 | CPA. Willieth Tilwetwa N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 4 3 4
20 | Mr. Cornel Msemwa N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 1 2 3
21 | Mr. Atupele Mwambene N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 1 N/A | N/A
22 | Mr. Justine Myowela N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A | N/JA | N/A | N/A
23 | Dr. Mwajuma Lingwanda N/A 3 2 N/A 1 2 N/A 2
24 | Ms. Devotha Sanga N/A 2 3 N/A 2 3 2 3
25 | Mr. Iman Mwalumbwe N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 2 2
26 | Mr. Justus N. Tilwetwa N/A N/A N/A 3 2 2 N/A | N/A
27 | Mr. Gernoth Sanga N/A N/A N/A 2 2 1 N/A | N/A
28 | Mr. Augustine Matem N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A 3 4 3
29 | Dr. Buberwa Tibesigwa N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 3 N/A 4
30 | Prof. Zacharia Katambara N/A 2 3 N/A N/A 3 N/A 4
31 | Prof. Osmund Kaunde N/A 4 3 1 N/A 3 4 2
32 | Dr, Juma Ally N/A 3 3 N/A N/A 3 N/A 3
33 | Mr. Disth Japhet N/A N/A N/A 3 4 3 3 3
34 | Mr. Emmanuel Sanga N/A 1 1 N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A 3
35 | Dr. Visent Kipene N/A 1 1 3 N/A 2 N/A 3
36 | Dr. Lulu Luflenge N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 3 N/A 3
37 | Dr. Furaha Mwangosi N/A 3 N/A 2 3 3 N/A 3
38 | Dr. Buncan Mwakipesile N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 2 N/A 1
39 | Mr. Ivor Ndimbo N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 1 N/A 1
40 | Dr. Joseph Runyogote N/A N1 1 N/A | N/A 1 N/A 2
41 | Dr. Eliezer Mwakalapa N/A 3 1 N/A | N/A 3 N/A 1
42 | Mr. Novatus Luanda N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A 4
43 | Dr. Bernadether Rugumisa | N/A 1 1 4 N/A 1 N/A | N/A
44 | Dr. Ashery Mwidege N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 2 N/A 1
45 | Dr. Muya Mgaza Somo N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 4 N/A 4
46 | Mr. Dickson Msakazi N/A 2 i 3 N/A 3 N/A 3
47 | Dr. Arthur Omari N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 1 N/A 4
48 | Ms. Judith Egina N/A 4 1 N/A | N/A | N/A 2 1
49 | Mr. Keneth Mwampashe N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A
50 | Dr. Hieronimi A. Mboya N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A 4 3 3
51 | Dr. Helikumi Mlyashimbi N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 2 N/A 4
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NUMBER OF MEETINGS
SN | NAME CM AHRMAD | AHRMAC | SAC AC | FPDC | ETSC | SN
52 | Dr. Zaharan H. Mgina N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A 4
53 | Mr. Matungwa William N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A N/A | N/A | N/A
54 | Ms. Anna A. Kivuyo N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A N/A | N/A | N/A
55 | Mr. Nabahani B. Hussein N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A | N/A 1 3
56 | Ms. Beatrice Makyao N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A | N/A | N/A | N/A
57 | Mr. Exaud H. Tarimo N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A | N/A
58 | Mr. Ezekia M. Laiton N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A | N/A
59 | Mr. Willy Innocent N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A | N/A
60 | Mr. Makata J. Abdallah N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 4 N/A
61 | Mr. Epimark Shirima N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A
62 | Mr. Majaliwa D. Jeremiah N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 3 N/A
63 | Mr. James F. Mayalla N/A N/A N/A 2 N/A | N/A 2 1
64 | Ms. Sakanda Gaima N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A | N/A 4
65 | Ms. Hadija B. Mkumbo N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A N/A | N/A | N/A
66 | Ms. Caroline P. Thomas N/A N/A N/A 1 N/A N/A | N/A | N/A
Source: Council and committees’ attendances.
Key
CM Council meeting
AHRMAD Appointment and Human Resources Management Committee for Administrative
AHRMAC Appointment and Human Resource Management Committee for Academic Staff
SAC Student Affairs Committee
AC Audit Committee
FPDC Finance, Planning and Administration Department Committee
ETC Estate and Technical Committee
SN Senate meeting
N/A Not a member
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2,29 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

The University Council members, key management personnel and the subsidiary
companies are related parties to the University. The related party transactions during
the year included Council expenses, key management personnel emoluments as well as
transactions with the subsidiaries i.e., MCB Company Limited and MUST Consultancy
Bureau Limited. Key management personnel are described as those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
University directly or indirectly. Details of transactions and balances with related parties
are disclosed in note 37 of the financial statements.

2.30 POLITICAL AND CHARITABLE DONATIONS

Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST) during the year under review did not
donate any fund for political issues.

2.31 EMPLOYEES WELFARE

Mbeya University of Science and Technology (the University) is committed to achieving
its business objectives through its people. We believe that our employees are the most
valuable assets, and we make effort to develop their abilities and productivity. We
encourage a work culture, foster relationship with them at every level in the University,
make them express their views and share their ideas to bring about improvements
towards the achievement of our vision.

This is based on the conviction that a pleasant and safe working climate, with an
emphasis on the enduring availability of satisfactorily trained, active, and motivated
workforce, is critical success factor for the University and its affiliated companies. The
University strives to create an environment responsive to different cultures and groups
in all our interactions with employees, customers, visitors, suppliers, contractors,
government and in the communities in which we operate.

2,32 Management - employees’ relationship

The University’s management focuses on building the right culture as a strategic human
resource priority by ensuring that the University’s culture is embedded across all levels
and the same is driven across the entire workforce. Having the right culture is an
essential element for the University’s future development as we transform towards
creating the smart Campus. Amongst the key components in this development is ensuring
that our leaders are charged by the major roles of fostering strong leadership
capabilities, talent management, enhancing employee relationship and development.

Our leaders believe and always strive in creating an enabling environment where all
employees will be able to utilize their fullest potentials while allowing them to connect
to each other with dignity and respect. Through this approach, the management
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maintains a harmonious working environment with both the employees and the Trade
Unions.

Resultant to these initiatives the University has been able to retain its key staff and
maintained the turnover rate below 2 percent.

2.33 Training and development

The University attach a lot of importance on the human capacity development. This is to
ensure that staff obtain required knowledge and skills to meet new challenges and
personal goals so as to assist the University achieve its mission. Moreover, training is an
indication of the future quality of the academic excellence and delivery of the University
services, solving the societal challenges and provision of the consultancy services. The
training of MUST staff is sponsored by various stakeholders through Government funds
and grants/scholarships from international organization. During the year under review a
total number of 163 staff were on training as shown under Table below.

Table 20: Staff Development 2022/23

Qualification | PhD | Masters | Bachelor | Diploma
Academic Staff

Female 19 3 0 0
Male 83 31 0 0
Sub-total 102 34 0 0
Administrative Staff

Female 2 4 3 2
Male 0 8 5 3
Sub-total 2 12 8 5
Total 104 46 8 5

Source: DHRM reports
2.34 Medical assistance

The University is a member of the National Health Insurance Fund {NHIF). University staff
have access to health services at designated hospitals in accordance with the NHIF policy
and regulations. The policy covers for an employee, spouse and a maximum of four
dependents (children under 18 years and/or parents).

2,35 Employees Performance Management

The University uses Open Performance Review and Appraisal System (OPRAS) to evaluate
employee’s performance against set and agreed objectives. The system forms the basis
for providing employees with performance feedback, recognition, development, and
corrective action plan to promote effective performance.

The OPRAS is an integrated process with full participation of managers (supervisors) and
staff in both setting and reviewing of performance objectives. The performance review
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is conducted annually where the Line Manager and the subordinate meet to review the
performance of that ending period and as a session for giving feedback. The Performance
assessment results form a valuable component on one’s reward.

2,36 Employee wellbeing initiatives

The University have an employee wellness program which is a professional service that
offers confidential counselling, sensitization training, capacity building and support with
regards to health-related issues. The program aims at sensitizing staff to change and live
healthier lifestyles. It emphasizes on the balancing of work/life within dimensions like
emotional control, behaviour change, mind and body health, physical fitness etc.

Employees have access to a range of health and wellbeing resources, including medical
cover, occupational health services and an employee assistance program.

2,37 Occupational health and safety policy

The University has occupational and health and safety policy aiming at ensuring
Occupational Health and Safety (OHS) to the University staff, its customers, and
premises. It specifies the control requirements and guidelines with respect to
Occupational Health and Safety, and provides obligations and responsibilities to staff,
Council, and the Management to ensure they act in a manner consistent with regulatory
requirements and this Policy.

The primary objective of the policy is to ensure premises and OHS key risk, is understood
across the University, assessed, and mitigated appropriately and adequately managed.
The policy set out the minimum control requirements to address the Premises & OHS
framework by explaining ‘what’ Business Units and Functions need to do; and ensure
compliance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, including any required
authorizations, permissions, and licenses.

Furthermore, employees are encouraged to participate in various sports activities and
working in partnership with external leading health specialists to ensure that health and
fitness are a top priority.

In addition, the University provides medical benefits through medical insurance scheme
to all employees’ spouse and to a maximum of four dependents on non-contributory
basis.

2.38 Annual leave
Every employee is entitled to 28 calendar days’ annual leave. However, paid once every

two years in accordance to prevailing Standing Orders for Public Servants and
Employment and Labour Relations Act, 2004.
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2.39 Employee grievance and complaints management mechanism

The University recognize the value and importance of having harmonious environment at
the workplace and made effort to ensure any reported complaints and grievances are
expeditiously handled. The University managed to introduce Grievance Readiness
Mechanism as a guideline used to handle all grievance reported under Gender desk.

2.40 Financial assistance

The University has MoUs with banks to facilitate employees who wish to obtain loans
from banks and other financial institutions after assessing the risks of individuals and the
ability to service the loan applied for. The opportunity is available to all confirmed
employees as added credibility to the banks. This arrangement does not result to any
financial obligation to the University hence no contingent liability is expected.

The University continued to provide office space for the University Savings and Credit
Cooperative Society (MTC SACCOS), which provides loans/credit to its members (MUST
employees and non-employees).

The University has also a revolving fund scheme to provide short term financial assistance
to its staff to solve urgency issues.

2.41 Staffing

The University being a public institution has a clear hiring policy, which is built on the
provision of equal employment opportunities to all genders. It ensures to provide equal
access to employment free from discrimination of any kind and without regard to factors
like race, colour religion, sex, nationality, national origin, tribe, age or disability, social
origin, political opinion, gender, pregnancy, marital status, HIV/AIDS, station of life
which does not impair someone’s abilities to carry out his duties.

Decisions in respect of promotions and career development focus on skills and talents
rather than assumptions based on age, disability, gender, socioeconomic status,
ethnicity, religion.

2.42 Persons with special needs

It is the University’s policy to provide employment to persons with special needs
wherever practicable. The University has always considered this policy whenever it
recruits. As at 30 June 2023, there were 68 persons with special needs who are employees
of the University. We practise a non-discrimination policy against qualified individuals
with special needs in job application procedures, hiring, firing, promotion,
compensation, job training, and other areas of employment.

In the event of any employee becoming physically challenged in the course of
employment, where possible, the University can arrange training to ensure the
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continuous employment of such a person without subjecting him/her to any disadvantage
in his/her career development. If an employee has special needs, the University make
reasonable adjustments, to accommodate individual requirements.

Similarly, under the Workman’s Compensation Act, members of staff of the University
who get injured while in the service of the University are compensated appropriately.

2.43 Non-discrimination/ harassment

To provide equal employment and advancement opportunities to all individuals,
employment decisions in the University are based on merit, qualifications, and abilities.
There is no discrimination on employment opportunities or practices because of race,
colour, religion, sex, tribe, age disability, social origin, political opinion, gender,
pregnancy, marital status, HIV/AIDS, and status of life.

The University is committed to providing a work environment that is free of
discrimination and harassment including sexual harassment. Actions, words, jokes, or
comments based on an individual’s sex, race, ethnicity, age, religion, or any other legally
protected characteristic is not tolerated.

Employees with questions or concerns about discrimination and/or being harassed in any
way in the workplace are encouraged to inform or report to their supervisor. If the
Supervisor is the one accused, the staff is advised to report such an incident to the next
Manager or Director in the chain of command. Staff found to be engaging in unlawful
discrimination is subject to disciplinary action including termination of employment.
Employees are encouraged to raise concerns and report all discriminatory and
harassment incidents without fear of reprisal to the special complaint desk.

2.44 Employee benefit plan

The University contributes to Public Sector Social Security Pension Fund {PSSSF), which
is statutorily defined contribution pension scheme. A defined contribution plan is a
pension plan under which the University pays fixed contributions intc a separate entity.
The University has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions if the
fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to
employee service in the current and prior periods.

2.45 Termination benefit scheme

As a public institution the University adhere with standing order for the public services
on the issues related to termination of civil servant in each case including termination
due to age, termination due to sick, termination by death and other reasons. These
benefits including provision of transport benefits to his place of domicile, carriage of
luggage cost and certificate of services on termination.
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2.46 GENDER BALANCE

The University is an equal gender employer and there several efforts being taken to
maintain gender balance. We have various initiatives aiming at empowering women
through training, coaching, and mentoring.

Gender and diversity inclusiveness is an important component of our strategy, and gender
diversity has been identified as a key area for improvement. The University follows the
National and Global agenda for the gender diversity and inclusiveness which
predominantly aims at adhering to the best human resource practices and standards by
dedicating efforts that will increase the number of women employees in both entry senior
roles.

As noted in challenges facing the University, due to the nature of the programmes offered
at the University, the University is still facing the small number of both female staff and
students. As at 30 June 2023, the University total workforce stood at 703 staff, where
518 (73.6%) were males and 185 (26.4%) females.

Gender 2023 2022

Female 185 159
Male 518 448
Total 703 607

Source: DHRM reports

During the year, the University continued to focus on driving women agenda through
special sessions which aimed at inspiring and empowering more women to pursue science
subjects from secondary level so as to increase the size of female enrolment.

2.47 PREDJUCIAL ISSUES

During the year 2023, there were no serious legal matters which could affect the Group
or the University (2022: None).

2.48 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

At the signing of the financial statements, there waas no any other matter or
circumstances that need to be disclosed arising since the reporting date, not otherwise
dealt with in the financial statements which significantly affect the financial position of
the University and the results of operations.

2.49 APPOINTMENT OF AUDITORS

The Controller and Auditor General is the Statutory Auditor for Mbeya University of
Science and Technology, by virtue of the provisions of Article 143 of the Constitution of
the United Republic of Tanzania of 1977 (as amended from time to time) and sections
10(1) of the Public Audit Act, Cap 418 [R.E 2021]. However, in accordance with Section
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33 of the Act, M/S INNOVEX Auditors was authorized to carry out the audit of the
University’s Financial Statements for the financial year ended 30 June 2023 on behalf of
the Controller and Auditor General.

2,50 RESPONSIBILITY OF THE AUDITOR

Auditor is responsible to provide assurance of the correctness and consistency of each
information contained in the report by those charged with governance with those
provided in the financial statements.
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3.0 STATEMENTS OF RESPONSIBILITY BY THOSE CHARGES WITH GOVERNANCE

The Report by those charged with governance has been prepared in compliance with the
Tanzania Financial Reporting Standard No. 1 (The Report by those charged with
governance). This standard replaces TFRS 1 on Directors report that was issued by NBAA
on 1 January 2010. The standard becomes operative for financial statements covering
accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.

It is the responsibility of those charged with governance to prepare financial statements
of the University and consolidated financial statements which show a true and fair view
in accordance with applicable standards, rules, regulations, and legal provisions. This
responsibility covers the period from the beginning of the financial year to the date those
charged with governance approve the audited financial statements and it covers all those
charged with governance who acted in this capacity during any part of the period covered
by financial statements.

The Universities Act, 2005 and the subsequent granting of the Mbeya University of
Science and Technology Charter 2013 (Declaration of Mbeya University of Science and
Technology) require the Council to prepare proper books of accounts at the end of each
financial year, which show a true and fair view of the state of affairs and the results of
the operations of the University. Section 30 (2) and (4) of the Public Finance Act, Cap
348 [R.E 2020] requires management to prepare Financial Statements of each reporting
period which gives a true and fair view of Statement of Financial Performance, Statement
of Financial Position, Statement of Cash flow, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement
of Comparison of Budget against Actual of the reporting entity as at the end of the
financial year,

The Council confirms that suitable policies that are in conformity with International
Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSASs) have been used and applied consistently,
reasonably, prudent judgments and estimates have been made in the preparation of the
University’s Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023. The Council is also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the University and hence taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Council further accepts responsibility for the maintenance of accounting records
that can be relied upon in the preparation of Financial Statements, as well as designing,
implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of Financial Statements that are free from material misstatement. To
enable the Council to meet these responsibilities they set standards for internal controls
aimed at reducing the risk of errors or loss in a cost-effective manner. The standards
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework,
effective accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an
acceptable level of risk.
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Procurement of goods, works, consultancy, and non-consultancy services that are
reflected in these Financial Statements have been done in accordance with the Public
Procurement Act, Cap 410 and its regulations of 2013 (as amended 2016). Further, the
Council is of the opinion that the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the
state of financial affairs of the university.

Nothing has come to the attention of the management to indicate that the University
will not remain on going concern for at least the next twelve months from the date of

these statements.

Signed on behalf of Those Charged with Governance by:

..........................................

HON. ZAKIA HAMDAN MEGHJI PROF. ALOYS N. MVUMA

CHAIRPERSON VICE CHANCELLOR

DATE: 46.:03:-200¢ DATE: . 25: 0% 201
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4.0 DECLARATION OF HEAD OF FINANCE

The National Board of Accountants and Auditors (NBAA) according to the power conferred
under the Auditors and Accountants (Registration) (Amendment) Act, 2021, requires
financial statements to be accompanied with a declaration issued by the Head of
Finance/Accounting responsible for the preparation of financial statements of the entity
concerned.

It is the duty of a Professional Accountant to assist the Governing Body to discharge the
respensibility of preparing financial statements of an entity showing a true and fair view
of the entity position and performance in accordance with applicable International
Accounting Standards and statutory financial reporting requirements. Full legal
responsibility for the preparation of financial statements rests with the Governing
Council as per the statement by those charge with governance on the earlier page.

I, CPA. Willieth Wilson Tilwetwa, being the Director of Finance of Mbeya University of
Science and Technology (MUST) hereby acknowledge my responsibility of ensuring that
Financial Statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 have been prepared in compliance
with applicable Accounting Standards and other statutory requirements.

| thus confirm that the Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the financial
position of Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST) as at 30 June 2023, its
financial results and cash flows for the year then ended, and that they have been
prepared based on properly maintained financial records.

Name: CPA Willieth Wilson Tilwetwa

ﬁignature: ‘B

Position: Director of Finance

NBAA Membership No: ACPA 3906
Al.01.0LF

Date: .......
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6.0 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. GENERAL INFORMATION
1.1 Introduction

Consolidated financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2023 of Mbeya University of
Science and Technology include consolidated financial statements for the following
entities:

Mbeya University of Science and Technology (the University/ MUST); MCB Company Limited
and MUST Consultancy Bureau Ltd are affiliated companies wholly owned by the University.
Both the University and affiliated companies operate in Tanzania.

1.2 Place of business

Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST) Block FF - lyunga Area,
Plot No.1&2,

PO Box 131,

MBEYA,

1.3 Principal activities

The University provides opportunities for and conducts training, research and consultancy.
MCB Company Limited deals with construction activities ranging from roads, bridges and
buildings. While MUST Consultancy Bureau Ltd provides consultancy services in area of
constructions. The principal activities of the University and Subsidiaries are disclosed in
the Report of Those Charged with Governance.

2. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE AND BASIS OF PREPARATION
2.1 Basis of preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared under accrual basis, except
cash flow statement. Assets, liabilities, equity, income and expenses recognised as
incurred and not paid or received.

The preparation of financial statements is in conformity with International Public Sector
Accounting Standards (IPSASs) that requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires the management to exercise its judgment in the process of
applying the University’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of
judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
Financial Statements are separately disclosed in notes. The financial statements are
presented in Tanzania Shillings (TZS), which is a functional and operational currency of
the University and the affiliated companies.

76

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



Mbeya University of Science and Technology prepares its financial statements on Accrual
Basis IPSASs whereby effects of transactions and other events are recognized when they
occur and not as cash or its equivalents is received or paid. These effects are recorded in
the accounting records and reported in the Financial Statements of the periods to which
they relate.

No adjustments have been made for other inflationary factors affecting the accounts. The
statement of cash flows is prepared using the direct method. The annual budget is
prepared on the cash basis, that is, all planned expenditure and revenue are presented in
a single statement to determine the needs of the University.

2.2 Statement of compliance with International Public Sector Accounting
Standards (IPSASs)

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Accrual
Basis International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) issued by the International
Public Sector Accounting Standards Board (IPSASB).

2.3 Going concern

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on going concern basis
which assumes that the University will continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future.

2.4 Estimates and assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IPSAS 3 requires the use of
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the
date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during
the reporting period. Although these estimates are based on Management’s best knowledge
of current events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates.
The areas involving more judgment or complexity, or where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed.

The University makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the next year are disclosed.

2.5 Reclassifications

Certain amounts in the prior periods presented have been reclassified to conform to the
current period financial statement presentation. These reclassifications have no effect on
the previously reported surplus for the year.
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2.6 Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies during the year are converted into Tanzanian Shilling at
rates prevailing at the transaction dates. Monetary items denominated in foreign currency
are translated using the exchange as at reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at
historical cost denomination in a foreign currency are transtated at the date of initial
recognition. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized in surplus or deficit.

2.7 International Public Sector Accounting Standards (IPSAS) not used by the
University

The following standards have not been used by the University as they are not applicable
due to the nature of the activities the University is carrying out and none of these are
expected to have a significant effect on the consolidated financial statements of the
University.

IPSAS 10: Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies;
IPSAS 18: Segment Reporting;

IPSAS 27: Agriculture;

IPSAS 32: Service Concession Agreement;

IPSAS 34: Separate Financial Statements;

IPSAS 36: Investments in Associates and Joint Entities;

IPSAS 37: Joint Arrangements;

IPSAS 40: Public Sector Combination; and

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted by the University are consistent with those of the previous
financial year except where otherwise stated.

4. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
4.1 Consolidation (IPSAS 35)
Controlled entities

The controtled entities are all those entities over which the controlling entity is exposed
or has rights to variable benefits of the controlled entities and has the ability to affect
the nature or amount of those benefits through its power over the controlled entities.
The controlled entities are fully consotidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the controlling entity. They are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases. Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealized gains and losses on transactions
between members of the group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
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The accounting policies of the controlled entities are not consistent with the policies
adopted by the controlling entity. However, necessary adjustments have been passed in
areas where controlled entity’s accounting policy is not consistent with parent company.

The following are the policies which were not consistent:

e Revenue from non-exchange transactions vs Revenue from contracts with
customers;

o Government grants;

» |mpairment of non-cash generating assets (IPSAS 21); and

e Budget reporting (IPSAS 24).

4.2 Revenue recognition (IPSAS 9 & 23)

MUST revenue comprises of revenue from exchange transactions (IPSAS 9) and revenue
from non-exchange transactions (IPSAS 23).

4.2.1 Revenue from non-exchange transactions

Revenue from non-exchange transactions occurs when the University receives resources
and provides no nominal consideration directly in return. The main types of revenue from
non-exchange transactions are transfers from Government and other donor’s transfers
are inflows of future economic benefits or service potential from non-exchange
transactions, other than taxes. Transfers (whether cash or noncash), include grants, debt
forgiveness, fines, bequests, gifts, donations, goods and services in-kind, and the off-
market portion of concessionary loans received.

Revenue from non-exchange transactions is measured at fair value and recognized on
obtaining control of the asset (cash, goods, services and property) if the transfer is free
from conditions and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential related
to the asset will flow to MUST and can be measured reliably. To the extent that there is
a related condition attached that would give rise to a liability to repay the amount, a
grant liability is recognized instead of revenue.

4.2.2 Revenue from exchange transactions

Revenue includes only the gross inflows of economic benefits or service potential received
and receivable by the entity on its own account. Exchange transactions are transactions
in which one entity receives assets or services, or has liabilities extinguished, and directly
gives approximately equal value (primarily in the form of cash, goods, services or use of
assets) to another entity in exchange.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is
recognized only when it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential
associated with the transaction will flow to the entity.
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Revenue from exchange transactions for Mbeya University of Science and Technology
Consolidated includes student’s fees, consultancy income, construction income, and rent
revenue. Policy on accounting for each of these revenue streams:

(i) Students’ fees

Student’s fees are recognized in the accounting period when it can be estimated reliably,
and it is probable that the economic benefits or service potential associated with the
transaction will flow to the entity i.e., at the time when students are fully registered.

(ii)) Revenue from construction and consultancy contracts

Revenue from construction contract is recognized when the outcome of a construction
contract can be measured reliably by reference to the stage of completion of the contract
activity at the reporting date. Stage of completion is measured through survey of work
performed and certificates raised.

(i) Rental revenue

Rental revenue is mainly from the rented properties to third party such as office
accommodation and residential properties. It is recognized on time proportional basis
when earned and accounted for in the respective accounting period.

(iv) Dividend income

Dividends or similar distributions is recognized when the shareholder’s or the University’s
right to receive payments are established. i.e., declaration of dividend.

4.3 Property, plant and equipment (IPSAS 17)

(i) Initial recognition and subsequent measurement of property, plant and
equipment

All property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items. When significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the University recognizes such parts as individual
assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly. Likewise, when a
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognized in the carrying amount of the plant
and equipment as a replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All other repair
and maintenance costs are recognized in surplus or deficit as incurred. Where an asset is
acquired in a non-exchange transaction for nil or no nominal consideration the asset is
initially measured at its fair value.
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(ii} Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation on assets is charged on a property, plant, and equipment over their
expected useful lives on a straight-line basis. It is the University policy to reassess
depreciation method and rate(s) annually. Depreciation is charged on assets from the
date when they are ready for use and stop on the date when the asset is derecognized.

Land is not depreciated.

Depreciation on assets is calculated on the relevant rates which have been applied
consistently are as follows:

Description of Asset Annual Rate (%)
Buildings 2.0
Furniture and fixtures 20.0
Laboratory/workshop equipment 12.5
Plant and machines 6.67
Motor vehicles 20.0
Earth moving equipment 12.5
Computers 25.0
QOther office machines 20.0
Motorcycles 14.29
Books 12.5

Depreciation is charged on assets from the date when they are ready for use and ceases
on the date when the asset is derecognized by the University.

Assets that are subject to depreciation are tested for impairment annually. Gains and
losses on disposal are determined by comparing the disposal proceeds with the carrying
amount and are charged to statement of financial performance.

Depreciation on additions and disposals of Property, Ptant and Equipment is charged on
pro-rata basis depending on the period of use of such assets during the year.

(iii) Major renovation

Major renovations are depreciated over the remaining useful life of the related asset or
to the date of the next major renovation, whichever is sooner.

(iv) An Asset’s carrying amount and residual value

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount
when there is strong evidence that carrying amount is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount. Likewise, the asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed

annually.

81

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



(v} Gains and losses on disposal

Gains and losses on disposal of Property, Plant and Equipment are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are recognized through the Statement
of Financial Performance.

(vi) Borrowing cost (IPSAS 5)

Borrowing costs are costs and other expenses incurred by an entity in connection with
the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or production of a qualifying asset is capitalized as part of the cost of that
asset.

Capitalization ceases when construction of the asset is complete. Further borrowing costs
are charged to the statement of financial performance when are not capitalized.

4.4 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognized at cost. The cost of
intangible assets acquired in a non-exchange transaction is their fair value at the date of
the exchange. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any
accumulated amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Internally generated
intangible assets, excluding capitalized development costs, are not capitalized and
expenditure is reflected in surplus or deficit in the period in which the expenditure is
incurred.

The useful life of the intangible assets is assessed as either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with a finite life are amortized over its useful life:

Currently, the University’s intangible assets comprise of application software which are
amortised on straight line basis over a period of 5 years. Intangible assets with a finite
useful life are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the asset
may be impaired.

The amortization period and the amortization method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. Changes in the expected
useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic benefits embodied
in the asset are considered to modify the amortization period or method, as appropriate,
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. The amortization expense on an
intangible asset with a finite life is recognized in surplus or deficit as the expense
category that is consistent with the nature of the intangible asset.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and
are recognized in the surplus or deficit when the asset is derecognized.

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23

82



Research and development costs

The University expenses research costs as incurred. Development costs on an individual
projects are recognized as intangible assets when the University can demonstrate:

s The technical feasibility of completing the asset so that the asset will be
available for use or sale;

e Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset;

e How the asset will generate future economic benefits or service potential;

e The availability of resources to complete the asset; and

e The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development.

Following initial recognition of an asset, the asset is carried at cost less any accumulated
amortization and accumulated impairment losses. Amortization of the asset begins when
development is complete and the asset is available for use. It is amortized over the period
of expected future benefit. During the period of development, the asset is tested for
impairment annually with any impairment losses recognized immediately in surplus or
deficit.

4.5 Inventories valuation (IPSAS 12)
(a) Measurement and recognition

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value, except where
inventories are acquired through a non-exchange transaction, their cost shall be
measured at their fair value as at the date of acquisition. Inventories shall be measured
at the lower of cost and current replacement cost where they are held for:

o Distribution at no charge or for a nominal charge; or
e Consumption in the production process of goods to be distributed at no charge or for
a nominal charge.

Cost is determined by using first-in-first-out method of valuation. This method of
valuation is consistent with that of previous years.

(b) Impairment of Inventories

When there is objective evidence that the value of inventories is impaired either through
damage and or obsolescence, provision is made to that effect through Statement of
Financial Performance. During the year under review, there was no impairment of
inventories.

4.6 Receivables, deposits and prepayments

Receivables, deposits and prepayments are recognized initially at fair value and
subsequently measured at amortized cost net of provision for impairment. Provision for
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impairment of receivables is established when there is objective evidence that the
University will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of
the specific receivables. The loss is recognized through a statement of financial
performance.

4.7 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and cash at bank with an original
maturity of three months or less, which are readily convertible to known amounts of cash
and are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. For the purpose of the
consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand
and cash at bank.

4.8 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the University has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made.
When the University expects a provision to be reimbursed, for example under insurance
contract, the reimbursement is recognized as a separate asset only when the
reimbursement is virtually certain.

4.9 Financial instruments
4.9.1 Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of IPSAS 29 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement are classified as financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit,
loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial
assets, as appropriate. The University determines the classification of its financial assets
at initial recognition.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are
recognized on the trade date, i.e., the date that the University commits to purchase or
sell the asset. The University's financial assets include cash, trade and other receivables.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification.
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Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit

Financial assets at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial assets held for
trading and financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value through
surplus and deficit. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired
for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, including
separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are
designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through
surplus or deficit are carried in the statement of financial position at fair value with
changes in fair value recognized in surplus or deficit.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not quoted in an active market. After initial measurement, such
financial assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method, less impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. Losses arising from impairment are recognized in the surplus or
deficit.

Held -to maturity

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed
maturities are classified as held to maturity when the University has the positive
intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-maturity
investments are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment. Amortized cost is calculated by considering any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees cost that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
losses arising from impairment are recognized in surplus or deficit.

De-recognition

The University derecognizes a financial asset or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets when:

a) The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or is waived
b) The University has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or
has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party; and either:
¢ The University has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset;
or
o The University has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.
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Impairment of financial assets

The University assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that
a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of
impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after the initial
recognition of the asset {an incurred ‘loss event’) and that loss event has an impact on
the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of financial assets that
can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include the following indicators:

Ts Debtors or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial

difficulty;

ii. Default or delinquency in interest or principal payments;

iil. The probability that debtors will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganization; and

iv. data indicates a measurable decrease in estimated future cash flows
(e.g., changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults)

For financial assets carried at amortized cost, the University first assesses whether
objective evidence of impairment exists individually for financial assets that are
individually significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not individually
significant. If the University determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists
for an individually financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in a
group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually for impairment and for which an
impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognized are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been incurred, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the assets’ carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future expected credit losses
that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated future cash flows
is discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. If a loan has a
variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and
the amount of the loss is recognized in surplus or deficit. Loans together with the
associated allowance are written off when there is no realistic prospect of future
recovery and all cotlateral has been realized or transferred to the University.
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If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated impairment loss increases or
decreases because of an event Index to notes to the consolidated financial statements
occurring after the impairment was recognized, the previously recognized impairment
loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited to other income in surplus or deficit.

4.9.2 Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of IPSAS 29 are classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through surplus or deficit or loans and borrowings, as appropriate. The
University determines the classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and
borrowings, plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The University’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loan and
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification.
Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit

Financial liabilities at fair value through surplus or deficit include financial liabilities held
for trading and financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair vatue
through surplus or deficit.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose
of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments
entered into by the University, that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by IPSAS 29. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are
recognized in surplus or deficit.

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Gains and losses are
recognized in surplus or deficit when the liabilities are derecognized as well as through
the effective interest method amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
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De-recognition

A financial liability is derecognized when the obligation under the liability is discharged
or cancelled or expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a de-recognition
of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the
respective carrying amounts is recognized in surplus or deficit.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active markets at each reporting
date is determined by reference to quoted market prices or dealer price quotations
without any deduction for transaction costs.

4,10 Employee benefits
Employee benefits are recognized on accrual basis.
Short-term benefits

Employee benefits include salaries, pensions, annual leave and other related -
employment costs. The estimated monetary liability for employees accrued annual leave
entitlement at the reporting date is recognized as an expense.

Post-employment benefits

The Government through Treasury has statutory obligations contribute to the Public
Service Social Security Fund (PSSSF), a statutory defined contribution plan, under the
PSSSF Act 2018. The University obligations under this scheme is limited to 15%
contributions of employee’ basic salaries. The University’'s contributions to the defined
contribution scheme are charged to the Statement of Financial Performance in the year
in which they relate. The University has no other obligations to pay employees the benefit
relating to employee’s services in the current and prior period.
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Other long-term benefits

The University are entitled to long service awards and are recognized when they accrue
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for such entitlements as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

4.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

The University assesses at each reporting date whether there is an indication that an
asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, or when annual impairment testing
for an asset is required, the University makes an estimate of the asset’s recoverable
amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an assets of cash generating
unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of
those from other assets or groups of assets.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recoghised in the Statement of Financial
Performance in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset. An assessment is made at each reporting date as to whether there is any indication
that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
if such indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.

A previously recognised impairment (oss is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment
loss was recognised. If that is the case the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its
recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the Statement of
Financial Performance. After such a reversal the depreciation charge is adjusted in future
periods to allocate the asset’s revised carrying amount, less any residual value, on a

systematic basis over its remaining useful life.
4.12 Contingent liabilities

The University does not recognize a contingent liabitity but discloses details of any
contingencies in the notes to the financial statements, unless the possibility of an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits or service potential is remote.
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4.13 Contingent assets

The University does not recognize a contingent asset but discloses details of a possible
asset whose existence is contingent on the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the University in the notes to
the financial statements. Contingent assets are assessed continually to ensure that
developments are appropriately reflected in the financial statements. If it has become
virtually certain that an inflow of economic benefits or service potential will arise and
the asset’s value can be measured reliably, the asset and the related revenue are
recognized in the financial statements of the period in which the change occurs.

4.14 Value added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of value added tax
except:

o Where the value added tax incurred on a purchase of assets or services is not
recoverable from the taxation authority, in which case the value added tax is
recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense
item as applicable; and

e Receivables and payables that are stated with the amount of value added tax
included. The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, or payable to, the
taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables in the statement of
financial position.

4.15 Corporate tax

The University is exempted from corporate tax. Hence, only the subsidiary companies
are subject to corporate tax. Current income tax is the amount of income tax payable
on the taxable profit for the year determined in accordance with the Tanzania Income
Tax Act CAP 332 R.E 2019. The current rate of corporate taxation is 30%.

5. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

Although these estimates are based on the managements’ best knowledge of current
events and actions, actual results ultimately may differ from those estimates. The
estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods. The most significant use of judgment
and estimates are as follows:

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



a. Fair value of financial instruments

Where the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded on the
Statement of Financial Position cannot be derived from active markets, they are
determined using a variety of valuation techniques that include the use of mathematical
models. The input to these models is taken from observable markets where possible, but
where this is not feasible, a degree of judgment is required in establishing fair values.
The judgments include considerations of liquidity and model inputs such as correlation
and volatility for longer dated derivatives and discount rates.

b. Impairment losses on trade receivables

The University reviews its trade receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an
impairment loss should be recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance. The
University reviews its trade receivables at each reporting date to assess whether an
impairment loss should be recognized in the Statement of Financial Performance. In
particular, judgment by the directors is required in the estimation of the amount and
timing of future cash flows when determining the level of impairment loss required. Such
estimates are based on the assumptions about a number of factors and actual results may
differ, resulting in future changes in the impairment. The details of provision for
impairment of trade receivables are in Note 8.

c. Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

The University has made accounting estimation of the useful lives of property and
equipment and intangible assets based on the expected pattern of consumption of the
future economic benefits and reviewed its depreciation rates. The useful lives of items
of property and equipment have been estimated annually and are in line with the rate
at which they are depreciated. The depreciation rates of property, plant and equipment
are given in Note 4.3.
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6. STANDARDS, AMENDMENTS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED

(i) New and revised IPSAS mandatorily effective at the end of the reporting period

IPSAS Improvements/details of the new standards

IPSAS 41, | IPSAS 41 improves financial reporting for financial instruments,
Financial by:

Instruments

e Applying a single classification and measurement model for financial
assets that considers the characteristics of the asset’s cash flows and
the objective for which the asset is held.

e Applying a single forward-looking expected credit loss model that is
applicable to all financial instruments subject to impairment testing;
and

e Applying an improved hedge accounting model! that broadens the
hedging arrangements in scope of the guidance. The model develops
a strong link between an entity’s risk management strategies and
the accounting treatment for instruments held as part of the risk
management strategy.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier

application is permitted.

IPSAS 42, Social
Benefits

The standard provides guidance on accounting for social benefits
expenditure. It defines social benefits as cash transfers paid to specific
individuals and/or households to mitigate the effect of social risk. Specific
examples include state retirement benefits, disability benefits, income
support and unemployment benefits. The new standard requires an entity
to recognize an expense and a liability for the next social benefit
payment.

it seeks to improve the relevance, faithful representativeness, and
comparability of the information that a reporting entity provides in its
financial statements about social benefits. To accomplish this, IPSAS 42
establishes principles and requirements for:

¢ Recognizing expenses and liabilities for social benefits;

s Measuring expenses and liabilities for social benefits;

« Presenting information about social benefits in the

¢ Financial statements; and

o Determining what information to disciose to enable users of the
financial statements to evaluate the nature and financial effects of
the social benefits provided by the reporting entity

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

(ii) Standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective
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At the reporting date, the following new and/or revised accounting standards and
interpretations were in issue but not yet effective and therefore have not been applied
in these financial statements. The University has not yet assessed the impact of these

changes on their financial statements when they become effective.

IPSAS

Improvements/details of the new standards

IPSAS 43, Leases

While the IPSASB has retained the IPSAS 13’s finance lease/operating
lease distinction for lessors, the distinction is no longer relevant for
lessees. All lease contracts, including rental contracts, will be recognised
on the statement of financial position of the lessees, with some
exceptions in limited circumstances.

For lessees, IPSAS 43 introduces a right-of-use model that replaces the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership model in IPSAS 13, Leases. For
lessors, IPSAS 43 substantially carries forward the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership model in IPSAS 13.

IPSAS 43 will replace IPSAS 13 for reporting periods beginning on or after
1 January 2025 with a retrospective application by default.

IPSAS 44, Non-
Current Assets
Held for Sale and
Discontinued
Operations

IPSAS 44 specifies the accounting for assets held for sale and the
presentation and disclosure of discontinued operations. It requires assets
that meet the criteria to be classified as held for sale to be:

e Measured at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to

sell and depreciation on such assets to cease; and

s Presented separately in the statement of financial position and the

results of discontinued operations to be presented separately in the
statement of financial performance.

IPSAS 44 will be effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2025.
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7. Cash and cash equivalents

BoT Own source Collection
Account
Deposit General Cash Account

Development Expenditure Cash
Account
HESLB Funds Account

Own source Collection Account
- CRDB

Own source Collection Account
- NBC

Own source Collection Account
- NMB

Own source Collection Account
- TCB

Own source Development
Expenditure

Own source Recurrent
Expenditure GF

Recurrent Expenditure Cash
Account

Unapplied Cash Account

L AT NP A
Consolidated MUST

2023 2022 2023 2022

TZS TZS TZS TZS
20,015,437,738 25,404,181,000 19,615,718,156 25,404,180,572
350,844,135 57,379,000 350,844,135 57,387,959
3,128,413,864 427,049,084 3,128,413,864 427,049,084
15,959,810 87,906,186 15,959,810 87,906,386
435,749,724 18,815,000 60,971,000 110,000
9,485,000 16,104,000 15,000 6,287,507
138,013,134 519,723,000 1,677,200 (1,019,066}
5,803,095 - 5,803,095 -
513,247 1,052,265,001 513,247 843,869,081
318,450,712 625,186,000 101,965,469 615,740,331
77,071,345 234,246,057 77,071,345 234,246,057
348,413,313 86,847,088 348,413,313 86,847,088
24,844,155,117 28,529,701,416 23,707,365,634 27,762,605,000

The cash and cash equivalent included the fund amounted to TZS 16,845 million received from Ministry of Education
Science and Technology (MOoEST) for HEET project towards the year ended 30June 2022. Also, development fund
received and carried over funds amounting to TZS 2,451 million for construction of laboratories and workshops, library
phase Il and procurement of laboratory equipment.

94
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Consolidated
2023 2022
TZS TS
8. Receivables
Imprest receivable 1,824,904 109,321,000

Other receivables
Provision for bad and
doubtful debt (Impairment

1,426,982,712

1,215,533,425

MUST
2023 2022
TS TLS
1,824,904 83,084,51¢
1,321,982,712 986,459,00(

of receivable) (768,398,705) (686,197,121} (768,398,705) (686,197,121
Trade receivables 1,855,914,229 641,665,000 262,351,866 300,802,48:
Corporate tax receivables 87,713,212 153,583,512 -

2,604,025,448 1,433,905,816 817,749,873 684,148,87¢
9. Loan Receivables
Loan receivable from MCBL 395,671,008 395,571,00t

The University has the interest free loa
Company {MCBL) in the financial year ended 30 June2022 for financing

n amounting to TZS 395.6 milli

on which was issued to its subsidian
its operating activities. The loan wa:

provided with two-year grace period with maturity of financial year 2023

2023/2024 to 2026/2027 in equal instalments.

/2024. The loan will be paid from

Consolidated MUST
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZS TZS TZS TZ!
10. Prepayments
Prepayment - Expenses - - -
Prepayments - Assets 828,599,496 2,160,454,000 427,482,000 1,439,276,00(
828,599,496 2,160,454,000 427,482,000 1,439,276,00(
11. Inventories
Building material and
equipment 715,143,054 604,063,000 715,143,054 33,934,001
Other raw materials 309,558,263 - -
1,024,701,317 604,063,000 715,143,054 33,934,00(
12. Payables and Accruals
Advance received 1,114,371,287 1,357,352,000
Meals, accommodation and
stationaries 524,875 17,023,077 524,875 17,023,07
Misc deduction 1,583,780 - .
Retention 37,342,702 369,640,000 37,342,702 119,975,07
95
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Special faculty

Staff claim

Supplies of goods and
services

Tuition fee

Withholding tax payable
Other payable

Income tax

Corporate tax payable
Deferred tax liability

13. Provisions

Opening balance
Provision for Bad and
Doubtful debts

14, TIB loan

Loan from TIB Development

Bank

Opening balance
Accrued interest
Loan repayment
Balance as at 30 June

Current portion
Non-current portion

- v ':'.n-""'h :":b':y
Consolidated MUST
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZS TZS TZS TZ¢
14,854,000 - 14,854,000
156,880,520 130,000,000 156,880,520 130,000,00(
2,853,305,698 903,099,000 2,536,367,043 782,474,63¢«
580,934 71,675,350 580,934 71,675,35(
7,977,083 177,438,000 - 8,113,05¢
1,010,962,808 88,211,000
13,969,261 9,482,000
10,724,865 13,969,000 -
5,580,220,670 3,637,889,427 3,103,692,931 1,629,261,19(
686,197,121 686,197,121 686,197,121 686,197,121
82,201,584 82,201,584
768,398,705 686,197,121 768,398,705 686,197,121
500,000,000 671,865,000 500,000,000 671,865,00(
84,681,018 90,898,000 84,681,018 90,898,00(
(227,538,161) (262,763,000) (227,538,161) (262,763,000
357,142,857 500,000,000 357,142,857 500,000,00(
227,538,161 262,763,000 227,538,161 262,763,001
129,604,696 237,237,000 129,604,696 237,237,00(
357,142,857 500,000,000 357,142,857 500,000,00(

The University has an 8 years bank loan issued on 2 October 2017 which is due to be settled
by December 2025, repayable semi-annually and with an interest rate of 18% per annum. The
loan was issued to finance acquisition of buildings and other onsite assets at the former
Tunduma-Sumbawanga road construction camp and face lift the camp into the training wing

of Mbeya University of Science and Technology.

The loan is secured against landed property as disclosed in Note 14 and carries a penalty
clause which stipulates that, in the event of default of a semi-annually payment, the entity
will be required to make a penalty payment at the rate of 24% per annum. During the year
under review the University made repayment as per loan agreements. No penalty interest

was charged.
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Consolidated MUST
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZS TZS TZS TZS
15. Deferred
Income
Deferred
Subvention Capital 18,509,042,261 26,689,643,756 18,509,042,261 26,689,643,756
Deferred
Subvention Current 77,071,345 785,498,058 77,071,345 785,498,058
18,586,113,606 27,475,141,814 18,586,113,606 27,475,141,814
16. Deposits
Deposit General 516,097,849 15,032,000 350,884,135 18,391,377
Unapplied Deposit
Account 348,413,313 48,098,277 348,413,313 48,098,430
864,511,162 63,130,277 699,297,448 66,489,807
CONSOLIDATED MUST
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZS TZS TZS TZS
17. Investment in Controlled
Entities (Subsidiaries)
Investment - - 44,040,000 44,040,000
Other Receivables - - - -
z - 44,040,000 44,040,000
18. Receivables (Long Term)
Staff loans - 230,000 - 230,000
- 230,000 - 230,000
19. Intangible assets ~software
Cost
At the beginning of the year 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000
Additions during the year - - - -
At the end of the year 30 June
2023 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000
Amortization
At the beginning of the year 83,700,000 66,690,000 83,700,000 66,960,0000
Amortization charge for the year - 16,740,000 - 16,740,000
At the end of the year 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000 83,700,000
Carrying value as at 30 June
2022 -
97
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P AP IS VY
Consolidated MUST
2023 2022 2023 2022
TZS TZS TZS TZS
20, Work in progress
At the beginning of the
year 5,626,212,898 2,598,421,431 5,626,212,898 2,598,421,431
Additions during the year 3,274,786,216 3,027,791,467 3,203,194,269 3,027,791,467
Transfer to building - - - -
Balance as at 30 June 8,900,999,114  5,626,212,898 8,829,407,167 5,626,212,898
98
Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



£2/TT0T/LSNwniv

Jelauan 0)PNY pue 13]j0.4Juo0)

T T ] o) ) ST T g U g T T 3 5 oy Eaanniane e ricact . 0 g T T, O ¥ P
KBTIV TELLE ST TIFPL EET'RIT 66T 098900 L86°9T% 60171 SLE'eRE'968°L 0ZL 0LF'TT9 E9LZ09'0RG PECEIEF60°L b6 L9V 10K 9L SLGBPS00L T £T0T'90"0E I8 5¥
ENTVA ¥O0H 13N
949 P PBYG) For PR DL Lzl'985'ck OFLPESZ £90°85£°9€1°) EL1'S6E 62T OFE'0ETFIO") 0LB' P SHT L 6LL'GIT'EIE ) 0T L L90°9P)°L - ET0Z'90°0E
I8 5e uopepasdag
9961 L5807 Fok'ac9 0L L7198 0F1068°L £90°6ZL'15 [T Y] OFE'EFE G OLE kL LT 6411665 BET 072 020" 1K Jeak au oy BeyD
000505 ‘a9l D00"£81 000008k 000°bF9'0L 000°629P80°L 00079V L9°T 000’ £82°906 D00'E63°810°) 000904 v20°L 0002667299 IO LO°L0
18 se bogeiaaidep
paag| WY
I8V IBE 9L LY 012°L9T°CR 09E° 1S3 PPE 000" b¥S'61 0Z0"eRL 'GP T 896 ER6° 5P L) 09.£'004°9¥9°) CEOPFE 9T’ L ELE6TIL0P'T 299'SES'E657CT SLGBPSO0L'E ETOZ'90°0% I8 5y
Sz PEDZLD 0LLT6T'9L 09¢7158%628 0Z0'SEZRI0") 886 S99 E0FE L 06k 65 979" 61965 CLE'PLITEE Je3A AP I SUCIPPY
T99'T6E95E 1P a00'0L6'g 000'000°61 000 1PE*6) 0000552911 000'81 L TFT'? 0oL L0 107 FT699 ) 000'556°P20°T 899'4£6 '£0°EZ SIS'SPE00L'E 20T L0710 IR Sy
Szl sZ1 sZL SZ1 SZL sZL SZL SZL 11500
IVLOL $H008 ANAWIND3 SATAD SITHHIA SLNIWAIND3 SINaNdIND3 SHALNAWAD STINLUNYNA SaNIGUNG anv
DMIADW ML aNY HOLOW WOos3TaL TALSOH T13150H daI0H3ISYIT
HLHYI HOLOW JdOHSROM aNY 3440 ANV TI1440
JAMOLYH0aY T HIHLO
L.

L
\ Y

'R
L ¥



€T/T20Z/LSNwdY 1e13Us9 JOPhY pue 13]j013uo0’)
e P L T — e ) ] i T G T T T T T ; T 7 0 g O T o T z T F—
£95°184°028 2% 000 ERLE 000'00Z 000 L68°8 000°4Z6°T8 gy ESLEGH'S TBE'BSEWTL FOF'GEI 1OF 980'¥Z 100"} 899°6£5'228°91 SLC'BFS00L'E TIOT'90°0E T 5¥
AMTYA 30049 1IN
66T [C6'RLTEL D00"ZE) 000°008"%} 000F+9°01 000°6Z9F80°) 66045 LR'T IF LS LT 965 BLP'ET0°L £EE°600'SL0°) D00’ £66°729'9 7079008
1B = uogepaMag
££9°965' k2L 000'£€} 000°E9S") 000796098 R05'780°64E 096"96£'59 191718684 000°89k‘ i} 000" HEOTHLZ Ieaf e o) aBIRYD
F39' 092 'F0S°T) 000'008°F1 000'1.90% 00055 ‘8B5S ¥ 8PP eF'T b L 950 6ZF 903'E78 £5E° PG 206 000°9Z6" S0k 9 V20T L0° MO
Je sE uogeaudap
PaE| NUMRTY
798 BEL GOV ¥ 000°0£6°8 000°000°G1L 000°1¥5'61 000 0SS 291"+ 00t reR 9L 008 66E 9P L) 000 P50 SEY") 6P LT 20T B99 9ES RS LT CIG'RPE 0OLE TZOZ'90°0E 1| SY
DDD'06E£'BESS 000°0£6'8 000715072 000°T6H999'F 0007899, 000° 1LZ6 6L D00'PLE6EL JeBA B HY SUOIPPY
98 BFE‘195°5E = 000“000'sL 000°06+'TH 000°055°£91°L 00r 7EF 099°E DOR'£12690') 000°EEL'S90"L 6IF'OFEILE'L 899°9€5'£55'E7 S5 'gheonL's LZ0Z"£0° 10 IR Y
Ly d) SZL SZL SZL Lydl Lydl Szl SZL 11509
RLATHE i009 ANIWAINTS SIDAD SATDIHAA SLHIWAINDA SINTWdIND3 SYALNJWOD STUNUNIN SONIGTING anNyl
INIAOW ML aNY YOLOW wWOo3373aL JALSOH TALSOH aT10HASYI
Hidy3 HOLOW IdOHSHHOM ANV 301340 aNY 301440
/AMOLYH09v YAHLO

TL/TT0T A31LvalrosNod



€T/TTOT/LSNW/aY Jel8u8H J0JIpNY pue J3jjoLuo)

10L

ql1 Wolj ueoj e
Isutede Ajundas se paépaid usaq sey uoliw L8L‘1LZ SZ1 4O 1502 JeulSlio ue e eaJde eSunf| ‘44 30019 | ‘ON 101d uo pa1ed0) ssulp)ing

*95N UL LIS a4k (UoIW £75°9 SZ1 177/ 170T7) UONIIW 7919 SZL JO IS0D JeulBLIO Ue Je $3asse pajeldaldsp Ajnd ‘anjea
detds JuedLIuBIsS & SARY JOU Op PUEB SDAI] JLLLOLODS 2413Ud JI9Y]) 10} PAZI|IIN 94 )M ASY) asnedaq ‘s)asse 9sal) 10) an|eA |enplisal e
153dx 2 j0u s20p JuawWaBeuey Juawdinbs pue Jueid ‘A31adoud Jo SWLL 1 JO SNYRA [eNPLSSJ SY] 2insesw 03 palinbal st AJISIaAIUN SYL

¥I8 LP9'L0LLT 000°E8L'8 D00'00Z 000'268°8 000°1Z6'28 0007959°08€°S 000°EZE'86 4 000" LEL BFF 185 8¥Z°000"% 899'6ES'B/8'9) SLS'BFSD0L'E TTOT90°DE ! 5¥
ANVA 009 L3N
000 'S05° 8P} [Tyl 000°008"P} 000°F¥9°0L 000'679°F00°) 000°T95° 1987 000°282'806 pOO'Eé 8O 000 90L IO D0O'LE6"VL99 - wmcwwm.ﬁ
10 se uoneidaklag
000°798'5L°) 00DL8) - 000'E85°) 000'960'98 0005677128 D0D'665°LC 000"£98 ‘561 Q00°90Z°LL )L 000° 1O HZ > leah aup 1ay aSleys
000 E#926F 21 = 000°008°%) 000°1L90°6 000" ££6'R66 000°S1°06F'T 000°BZE* 158 000" 0LEtzR 000°86k E06 Q00°9Z6 k"9 s V20T L0° L3
1e se uoneraldap
pajEnwWnIZY
YZEZSE 9SE ¥ 000°0£6°% 000°'000°G1 000" 1F561 000'055°291) a00°9LLTFTS ao0‘ oL LOL L 000'PT6'99P"L 19556 FL0'T 299°9EG'£GS'ET CLG'BPE00LE TZOT 90°0F B sy
000°vrL'TRE'S 000°0£6'8 - 000°150%2 = D00'508% 19 00078992 000°1T6 5L 000 FLE 657, - - 1eak oy Jgy suonLppy
F29' 909 ELb6E - 000°000'51 000'06F 2L D00'055°£91°) 000'ZLELT9'E 000'8T5050°)L 000°200°L50'L 195 0P9'S 1L} 299°9£G°EAG'ET SIS BRSO 120Z°£0°L0 38 5Y
S7L STL S7L S7L SZ1 SZL SZL SZL 11500
Y01 Heod N S SITIIHIA SLNAWLIND3 s SUILNIWOD s $ONITTNG ANyl
IWdINDA RLL ONY YOLOW WoD3734 INAWAIND3 FUUNYNS aToH3IsYa
ONIAOW oLow JdOHSNUOM VELSOH TALSOH
HI¥Y3 JAd0LYd0avT ANV 3H440 aNy
YIH1D EWEE ]
ZT/TTOT 1SN
L LT L
- ' » v > - - < -
- - > o - o - -



01

€T/TTOT/LSNWAIVY

Jesauan Jojpny pue 13))013uo)

000°€6Z°659°97

pEL'L00°GS8Y

LY TLY 6TL'GT

LEL9LT E88"S

{+78'¥80°€8)

L£9°761°06
20868799
000°206°8Z
08£°G6G‘8TF 9L

000°06.L¥TT
000°0¥L 9

000 198VSL L

000°£61°189°8

SZ1
[AA43 4
LSNw

€61PrL°0LS
960°68T°£19°}
L6 £08°TE9

(#50'607° 199}
(807°'970°688‘8)

089°061°78
(09£°158°675)
9/9°61L°GE0°T
9L vr6‘ 9186
sZ1

£207
1snw

807 PEL899°T

(z6£'€90°785°T
(000'¥EL LL9)
(000°ZZZ L6V)
000°G6S 8TV 91

00006 %22
000°0FL 9}

000°082°GZ1°)

000°€57°998°8

SZ1
[AAVA
J3LvdAITOSNOD

P8 Ve 66T
096‘STH 0L
P IEE TF6 )
G88°08¢ 108
(ZLE'8€9 0Td)
(r6£870°688°9)

08906178
(09£°168°675)
9€Z7°91£°680°
QG6 Y99 L1701
szL

€207
J3LvaiToOSNOD

saplAloe Suneisdo wody Moy Used 19N
S91qEAIDIDY

P2AISD3Y SOURAPY

sjenJooe pue sajqeied

Nsodaq

SOLI0JUIAL

(12aden) awodul palisag

3q=pP ped
uolieziyiowy

sjueld ysed uoN
sasuadxa uoijeldasdaq

110} 3sn{py

Xe) 91043( Jeah 23 1oy smding
saljAnoe sugesado

€7072UN[ O Se Sa1AIIIR Sul1esado Woly MOY YseD JO LONEeNIDU0IDY 77



£2/TTOL/LSNW/ Y

|el3uan) J0jjpny pue 13]1013u07)

€01
9L TRE9LL LL GSL19L°09€E L) GLZ‘TES LGP 8] 789°86.°0Z€ 61
- - 66£°909¢99°G L04°160°0E¥°9
000°9¥5 61 01L0°08.°‘S 000°9¥5°61 0L0‘082°S
000°0Z1‘89 0000098 00007189 000°009‘F8
¥£9‘c19gL6 GZ9'/0£°6£9 rE9'9L1 6L Gy VT 6917
0Z8'LTT 8L 659079 €68 07877 (8L 659°0F9°‘c68
790°977°¢61°6 £96°067°409°6 790°97Z°€61°6 196°0ST°P09°6
008°90£°‘8T 8y €88 8¢ 000°£0£°8T g¢p €88 8¢
000°T6L 2L 000°96F°0T 000°Z61°L) 00096+ 07
00L‘0EL‘Y9 00L2TS°€S 000‘0€1L Y9 001 £28°¢€S
- 9G£‘G/T 0T - 9G£‘G/2°0T
000°0Z . . -
- 19T EER6GT YL - L9T'€E8 65T VI
- 076787 35¢€°¢ - 026787 ‘36€°¢
- 9v9‘09L°616°6 - 990926166
- G69°686° 186 - 669 685 186
SZ1 SZ1 SZL S7Z1
7707 £207 7107 €707

1snw

d31VdarosNod

$33) UO[3INJISUOT)
5334 JdLsuenj

Aauow Jnagnd Jo A1sA0DaY

$324 Aouelnsuo) woudyl disnay

$994 Uoljeullexy wo.y sidiaosy

s934 uoliing woly $1disday

s95JeUD 1eJUSP puR JedIpaWl WoJ) s1disday
$92) 9oueInsse Ajenp

s|eaw

$93) uolenpedn

$32) UONIRLDOSSY

suoljoesuen) GMCM_._UXN wol} anuaAsy "7

uselo4 jusawdoiaasg Ul JUSLIUISAOL)
1e°07 Juswdo)aAs( JueIn JUSWLLISAOD
AIE)SUOW-UON - JURID SNUDADY

sjuels anuaAsy ‘€7



oL

€T/TT0T/1SNwAdY

lesauan Joypny pue J3jj04Juo)

9Ly T8EQLL LI GSLL9L°09€ L1 GLTTES ISP 8L 7898640761
- - 66£°909%99°G 102°£60°05P°9
00091561 0L0°08.°S 00095 61 0L0‘08L°S
00007189 000009v8 00007189 000°009°¥8
P£9°€19°8€6 G79°/0£°6€9 7£9°9/1°619°7 S LPT 6917
078°1TT 181 659°0v9°c68 078°L7T 184 659°0r9‘c68
790°97Z°6L 6 £96°0ST¥09°6 7909725616 £96°06T'V09°6
00890¢ ‘87 8cb €88 8t 000°£0£°ST 8P e88 s
000°T61°4) 000°96%°07 000°Z6L L)L 000°96% 02
001°0EL P9 001°£76°€S 000°0€1L ¥ 00L°226°€S
- 9G£'6LZ7°0T - 96£°6/7°0T
000°07 - - -
- 19Z2°€£8°65T Y1 - L9ZEE8 65T V)
- 026‘78p'9G6E‘E - 076781 '84E S
- 9¥9‘09L 6166 - 99°09.616°6
- 569685186 - 669686186
SZ1. S7Z1 SZL Lydl
70T £207 70T €207

1snw Q31varosNoed

$23J UOLIDN.NSU0)

S99y yduosues)

Aauow onqnd jo Aiaaooay

$934 Aduejnsuo?) woy 1dianay
$894 uoljeulwexy wody sydisday
$394 uollln| woJlj s3disoay
sa8Jel jejusp pue edipaw wody s3diansy
$33]) Ioueansse ALenY

s|esaw

$33) uo[jenpeln

$23) uolIeLI0SSY

suoljoesUe.} 3BURYDIXD WOUY SNUSASY *HT

US04 Juawdo1aAag JURID JUILILISAOY)
18207 jusuidojaas( Jurl JUSLILIDACE
AIRIDUOW-UON - JURID) 3NUSASY

SURLE BNUBADY *¢7

P
R



ET/TTOT/LSNW/IY

Je1ouan Jo3pny pue 12jjos3uo)d

SOl

000°006 000°000°G 000006 000°000°G

. 00G L8 - 00628
LES‘SLOLPB DT 7£8°06S€L6°0T LESSLO LY PT 7£8°0G9G°€L6°07
012°99Z'9¥9°gL T26'PPR‘vL9‘6L 01Z°99Z°9¥9°81 12678 'vL9‘6L
£/8°/07°618 016°504°8SE°) £/8°407°518 01L6°G0.‘S6E°)
k¥ 1P 08E°S - 8Pr Lbr 085S -
rEET0TS8L GER‘GSLT6L GEGETT G8L GEBGSLTOL
- 00€°L¥T - 00€°L¥T
000‘S16°C - 000°616°C .

0005008 006°7£5°86 000°500°28 006 7686
9129071 LOZ‘9rE 708 pPoL‘Z90‘TLE LOZ‘9PST0€
00S‘ThP er L £950LF°061 005 ZhF 8r ) 195041061
0LLT¥8°19) LGT66E°19 LLE‘E98 /9] IST'66E°19
005 0£6°99 010‘096°8€ 1 005°0£6°99 010°096'8€1
6LL 'GP G6E 00S°LEB VLT 6LL°GIP°‘G6E 006°LE£8°F 1T
000°00£ ‘98 000°0E¥ 26 000‘00£‘98 000°081° L6
61L°G9L°60¢€ 008 20b° L1 612°G9L°60¢ 005 20F° L1
SZL SZL SZL Szl

7207 €707 7207 £207

lsnw @3LvdailosNOD

3DUBMO))E SI0SSISSY
aouemole Sunpy

sjjausq aakojdws pue saleles ‘safem *g7

JUSWINOWS 1RU0SIad JURIE JUIWILLISAOD
safreyd 13430 JURIS JUSWILIDAOD
12901 JUaWIdO}J3ASP JURIE JUILLILLIDAOD

salua

JUSWUISACD  J3YJ0  WOJ)  UOHUIAGNS */7

93] UOLJRPOLILLIOIIR JUIPNIS
53) Judy

5334 UoLIEIIUAPL W0y sidiaday
si@)ienb juswuisacs wod) s1dieday
35U23adWod Jo 83 0131192 Wol) 51d1a03y
s3d19294 shosuejeosiy

93} uolyeonddy

anuaAal 18Yyio ‘97

$93J uopensIGay
S)a4io4

$)19440) pue soyjjeuad ‘sauly ‘sead ‘67



€T/TT0T/LSNWNIY

|EJ3USD JOYPNY PUR J3]]04IU0D)

901

£OF‘0£0°Cr6 6L LIV L0981 ET £1L990°90b 0T V9L T6TEGE YT
000°005°Z 000°0Z.°T 000°005°Z 000°0ZL°T
009069 0042109 009069 00£°2£0%9
667°9/5°T¢ GZIEGE‘eLT 66V 9/G°TE AN S V4
. 000047, - 000°0£7°Z
0085 ‘796 8t 086°9£6°925 000°€LT°T9¢ 08697805
EEE IP6've9 068‘v6. VT8 £ECLP6PG9 058V6. ‘vT8
061°G/0°LY 0£8°T19°GS 000P90°SH 0SF‘00L ‘¥/9
000°080°}) 000‘00¢ 000°080°L 000°‘00¢
L10'PT9°9¢€ = LI0PT9°9EE -
000°0Z8°EL 000°SkL 1L 000°0Z8°€1L 000°‘GkL 1L
005971677 00Z'€T6 6V 005971 67T 00T°€T6 6¥
WELET L6 TTLY8LLLL WELET L6 TTLY8L LLL
. 000°050°S 000°7/£°90T £91°17£€€T
000°S€0° 1L 000°008°LLL 000°GE0°LL 000‘008°LLL
000°‘000°101 686°€56°GLE 000°008°TLL 686‘CGL1TE
665G Pr0 6.1 000°8GE‘SEE 665 Pr0‘6/1 000°8GE‘SEE
00000002 000°000°0Z 000°000°0Z 0000000,
000°001 ‘8 000°968‘8¥ 000‘001L°8 000°968°8Y
000645 60T 986‘066°9/€ 000687977 986065 58¢
000°091°€5 000°0P68S 000091 ‘€S 000°0¥6°8S
. 000‘OPS‘E - 000°0PS‘E

" £19°70€ ‘o€ 000°¥88651 99 ‘689°SES
708°9LT 795 L1 LL6vre'r1961L v08°917°79¢°21L TT6‘PP8 P19 61
000°99€°67 000°SEL°1LT 000°v6£°08 LLLPR6 ST
SZ1 SZ1L SZ1 SZL

70T €707 rAAr4 £707

snw Qa3.1vaImosNoD

3DURMO) e LLIOJIUN
2ouemo)e Jodsuel]
SoURMOe IDUBISISqNS
aauemol)e jepads
JourMmo e BUIILS
ouemolre ApLqisuodsay
SSIUBMO] B |BUOLISSDL0.4
aouemolie 1IN

JJe1s IDIAIes Jeuoieladp
8dUBMO]IR 1122 UQ

sasuadxa SulAow

12ARI} 9ARS

nuemo)je diysuaajuy
Jouemolje sulsnoy
elLIeJouoH

aduBMOY R peo| Sulydes) AreaH
a.njuing

J3UeMO]je uoljeIloe
Anp-ea3x3

fAdupe)g

SUOIINQLIIUOD PUB SUCLIeUO(]
$I2BJJUOD SJURAISS 1AL
SIURAIDS 1AL

S13.n0ge) jense)



L0}

0b8‘985°86p
€29°2£0°CLL
000°0€6°€
000°SLE*ZS
000°7ET°L
£91°0LL PLE
07T°cL8°EL

£10°06¥°701
0000058
00000612
9L /G186
ZLLOPS U
00€ /86001
000°000° L1
LVLVLT SHT
00012y
097 T¥6LL
9£T 076 IPT
871L6vL 101
00Z°8£T°L1
PSTYST T
000°181L°LG
0LL 10V
00V 0£Z°LT
008610/

SZ1
Ti07

ObE £59°065
GT88TL VS
000 0PE‘TL
000000 651
000°000°Z
005 1€8°E
£¥9v0L‘69€
00001
0000091
199688711
061°6SLY
091¥8E‘vT
606707
007068961
0P8 68T
000‘00£°0€
7€7'001‘T€T
0008922
90£ ‘816
7£9°066 16T
000°00Z°1
008‘P60‘6T
Qo704 1LL
G68‘6.¥ 00V
000°908°78
09L°LEE '€
890°60S°201
000 65165

SZ1
€207

isnw

E£L/TTOT/LSNWAEY

Jelouan Jojpny pue 12][0J3uo?)

000°09°€05
€79°/E0°ELL
000°0£6°€E
000°GLE‘/8
000'7€T° L
€91L0LL'PLE
0zZZ'cL8‘el

000°629°CZ)
000°005°8
000006°1Z
9L 1616
oS U
00068501
000°65L 6}
000°TLL ST
000°LZE ‘Y
09v‘TH6 L)
000°149°£8T

871 ‘6¥L 101
00Z°8€T° L1
£ TA TN
000°0£8'¥S

0L LV0 Yy
00F 0£Z°1T
008°S10°LS

SZ1
0T

OP€ ‘786009
GI8'vh0 ‘€
000°0FE‘T)
000°000°6€ 1
000°000°2
00S1£8°C
£79'701‘69¢
000°0L¥
000°009°1
£6£°999°0¢€1
06166y
091P8E ‘4T
606°70T°L
007‘G90°£6)
TV6°6/8°6LT
000°00¢ ‘0
L 0L esT
0008922
90€ ‘81 'G¢
7L 80T TP
000°00Z°1
008‘P60°6Z
S9P‘Z0L LL)
G68°6/¥° 00V
008°££6°98
09L°LEEPE
890°G0S 201
000‘65¥ 65

SZ1
£207

Q31VdITOSNOD

$1502 SuLINosING

S3|qRWNSUGY 3340

saulzedewl pue sisadedsmap

59842 aIqow

Suiues pue Apune

wswdinba ajqelnp-uou Jews AlojesoqeT
SUO01JI3UUOD |LBLIS PUR J9UISU|
sajddns jeydsoH

saL)L1oe) Sururery Jo uLiy

{232 ‘paey Aemied ‘Snq) 19ARI) PUNOID
(1a1em ‘ureny ‘snq) podsuely punoln
s9zud pue s3jLo

uoryesiung

SIUSLLYSIIRU pue poo4

SUOLIRIGDID PUR S|RALISS) ‘UOIIIqIYXT
uIwuRPISIL]

AnoLren3

sulwesdold suliseapeolq Al pue olpe) Jeuoi3esnpy
saupaw pue ssnig

19s591Q

S9DIAISS 131IN0YD)

saLiossadde pue sal)ddns ssindwod
21emyjos Jandwor

salddns Sulyoes) woolsse))

SDIAIDS SuLiale)

$9sSaJ31eW pue pag

519213 19ARL) Iy

uonzealignd pue BulsijuaApy
UOLYepPOLLIIGIDY

BDLAISS pue Spoos J0 asN *67



£T/TTOT/LSNWEY

Je12USE) JOJIPNY pUE J|10J3U0D

801

L1£064°918°S 162°798°866°6 PP86Z1°€999 Por‘667‘0£5°0L
= . £ET 687 -

. 009°€€E TS . 009°€£€“TS
000°019°C rd%- ¥4 000°019°7 18cps
GEPERG 9t 686697 ¥SE 000661 LIV 667'G60°36E
000°00F‘Z 000P66°S 000°00%“C 000°766°G
880°966°LZ £61°659°€SS 88096617 £61‘659°€5S

- 612650 - G1/°GS0TE
160681 ‘60€ 00 6£8°70L°1 000‘PE9‘VILE 00972501 ¢1
- G6T€9/°92) > G6T°€9/9L1
000°00% ‘¥ GIE70L 000°00% ‘71 GZET0L

. 000°0€6 - 000°0£6
00S°€S6°ELL 0£8°9€6'80 000°688F71 0£8°9£6°80F
0L6‘GTL°GT 86£8ET ¥E 016571 ‘6T 86€‘8ET V¢
0GL‘GE6 EE9 0S0°€8€°690°1 0G)°GE6°EE9 050°€8€°G90° 1
00S‘LLTY 0000000} 00S‘LLTV 000°000°0}

- 00b‘SL6°L - 00126}
000°GE6‘€9 Lv6 L0LPET 000°S£6°€9 W6 L0LVET
005 7688 69.87€966 00576876 692875966

- 00S‘€89'¥ST - 00G‘€89¥ST
0008822 0000062 000°88. 1 000°005°Z

s 000°00% ‘2 e 069°18.°8
000°0bS‘0¢ 000°0+T°9T 000°‘0¥S ‘0t 000°0¥7°9T
€78°00L ‘6% LV SLPTL) 000°£90°¢€S1 LEP‘PLB e8I
005‘66£‘8 00Z'v68°L 005‘66£°‘8 00Z'768°L
179°€67°97 899P£0°97 £79'€57°97 899°4£0°97

- 989°C1G Y - 989°ELG ‘Y
000°05¥ 00Z‘¥LL‘9 000°‘000°0S¥ 00Z'vL1‘9
1G/‘9GZ‘61G°} L86'0PRPPT] 000°96£°08.°1 r90‘vL67L9°L
S7Z1 SZ1 SZ1 SZ1

70T £707 70T £70T

1snw A3LvalrtosNoD

SIIIAIDS BULISI] SjeLIDIeW
$3131)10B4 S2U12JU0D)

S)lWISDE) pUR SDAIDS X219 ‘Duoyda)a] ‘ssI)a0IM ‘DNm
$28.eyD Jajepm

SSSDUP JRIUOWSISD pUR SULIoUN
$93) UonIn]

sjerarew guuel |

saDUBMON R Buuied ]

SHOOqIXaL

(ssuny pue)) sad.eyd suoydajal
$59) 9DIAISS |RIIYID |

sjelsjew (eduyIa)

$23) uollduoasqns

S|ESW JUSpMIS

sonddns Buiods

BuLyl01> pue swiopun jeads
saljddns Aiojesoqe) sjoouas
UCIIRLIBSSIP pue Ileasay
saouemo))e daaydn
UOLJEPOLILIODIE IILJO - JUDY
s1e9d pue Jeamioo) ‘SUIYI0D SAIII10.4d
Jeuaew SupuLd

$31500 SulAdodoyoyd pue Suiuuy
sydeida)a) pue 51504

o024

sa3) uolyedljdde esip

ud1oJ0) - WP 1a4

J13SBUI0P - WAIP J3d

Ly 47
y AY



E€L/TTOT/LSNW/ IV

|edausD JOIPNY pUe JS[]043U0D)

601

6¥9°68LPTT 8510778 6¥9°68LbTT 8510778

- ¥85°107°78 - ¥8G°L0Z°Z8
67968/ V7T . 6¥9°68L YT <

990°906°6L 1 8L0°1L89°p8 990906 611 8L0°L89'P8
990°906‘61 1 810°189°P8 9909066 1 8L0°189v8
619°960°TSh €LL'CO8 LTV 878966 7St L09PLLVEV'S
: ’ eeT'ove L6E°109°CT
0P LEP LT 0097469 ovo‘LEF 1T 009770y
000008 - 000008 .

9LP0LT L6 PSELLITLL 9LP‘0LT L6 e LI9TLL
822°961F1 000261 8LL°961 VL 000°Z61

- 000°00Z°1L - 000°00Z°L

. 000005 ‘¥ - 000°005y
8700 ‘¥8 960°8SF LG 870°V0L b8 960°857°1LS
9/p 62691 €€L°979VC 9/¥‘6£6°9) £€.°916'6T

- 006 LLZ Y - 006°LLTY

- 000°60Z°) : 000°S0Z°L
005°€EL’g GZR°9LP L1 00G‘EEL’G 765°Shb 09€ ‘s
000°‘0F6‘g : 000‘0P6°g .

LLE 109807 Q0T 67L6L1L L1£°109°802 676°CHL‘908 )L
SZ1 SZ1 SZL SZ1

7707 €207 FAAITA €207

1snw

Q3LVQIT0SNOD

sasuadxs Jsyi0 £ ¢

(8 @10N) 1dap peg
40 Ualllum 1gaq

syuauLiedw 1o} uoisiaold ‘7 ¢

SURO) JLISILIOP UO IS

sasuadxa 3sateiul ‘¢

sjusw3|dw pue sjoo) |ews

SaLI9))eq pue sauk)

SWa1sAs Xgvd a51J0 pue sauoydsja]

sued aueds

an3fuiny Jo sdueuslulew pue Jeday

sa4mxly pue saljddns Suiquuinig

s.a1dodojoyd

eIDIDIRM PUR SIDIYIA I0JOW

syied aseds ouoa1ra)a pue ‘1e3LI1n9)e “qeaiueydaw
juswdinba uonoayoud auy

sjeliajew Buljged Jayio pue Jest3oe)]

(3241y 1ensed io paydenuod) noqe) allg
Juswdinba 1ay30 pue ‘siauueds ‘siounid ‘siayndwior
SleUa)ewW BUIP|ING pue SYJUq “JudaWs)

sasuadxa adueusjurew ‘¢



£T/TTOT/LSNWIY

JRISUSn 10PNy pUR 13]]01U0D

0L
000°08. % 00008 -
009°820°G.S £69°Z0L°1L8L L 0G£°988°981°9 LTO‘SER‘ELS T
- rLe‘1Te‘Ll SL1L°09%‘6 PLELT8LL
- - GLL0P‘EES Y -
» - 000°88.°£9L 018°086°16§
= = 000°s¥8°701 887°05LC
= 000°661 k1 000°659°C 000°G6L 11
: 000505 10€ < 000°G0S‘10€
06565t ‘6 - 065656 -
. 978‘1€1 : 975 1€l
000018 116°685°TLp 000018 126°986°T/Y
009°9/£°6Z £79°97€°767 009°92£°6Z £79°87£78T
- PLLE05°T) . rLL‘E0S T
£09°101°99 - L09°101°99 -
€0V'STL 0T - 8¥L‘08£ 0L GTV LG) e
66.°8/8°LS 887°856°18 000°pLSLL [¥9°TL6'0EL
- 00000 - 000°00Z
610'6FF €07 6/9°109°01Z 610677 €07 69109017
000°05869 0000000} 00005869 00000001 )
9/£°606°€L 798°G0t°16 9/£606°E) 90£‘1£€T7TL
000°9Z£‘S) 00568861 00097807 006°698°67
9TY E€T 727986 000°¥G0‘€E 9187691
0ZV IS LL 000°000°G8 000871 °T6 00061801
099°208°¢) 000005801 099°£08°¢) 000005801
SZ1 SZL S71 SZ1
7707 £20T 7202 €207

1snw A31val10SNOD

JuwWes) jedipaw Aoussiawl

$342Uaq [e190S “pE

$a5.4eY2 1104

sasuadxa UoLIINIISUOT)

$93) Aoueynsuo)

JUAWILIDA0S JO 19A3) Jayjoue AqQ paLAd) saxe|
sasuadxa Alpuns

$221A198 uoljrlado jeldads
§3502 2)qes.nquiay

S22 uole1IsiSay

uchjejliqeysl jeeiseled
syuswAed 1sy10

3aouemolje Supjlew

2924 BUIIIALSS puR JuWaBelrRwl ueo
529} jesan

sasuadxa asue.nsy)

$99) ddueul

sasuadxa uosialadns uopednp3
29} $.1032341q

WS $312UDBURU0)

sasuadxa jeLing

SUOISSILULLIOD pueR Sagieyd yueg
539} 11pny

saa) Aouady



|e42USY) 10JIPNY PUR J9)]0IU0D)

£2/TTOT/LSNWAY

LLi
000°000°00) 000°000°0S 000000001 00000005
000000001 00000008 000000001 00000005
G96°GLS ‘PG L9P0LT ShL G96°SLS VS Lo OLS Sh)
" - - 000°00¢
00Z°676°L 110, 2871 284 00Z°676°L 00F POV ‘P
§96°678°6€ 00L 8y 1TL 695678 6¢ 001 8¥b*1TL
00Z°2.6°S 000°083‘8 00Z°LL6°S 0000888
- 196°LIY - L96°LLY
SZ1 SZL SZ1. SZL
rAAITA €707 70T €207

1snw d3LvalmosNOD

(%G1} 30 01 uonINGLIIUOD
siajsuely JOYIQ ‘G

safll)iqisuodsal ye1os ajelodiod

SWIIR)D JUSLLIIRAIY 1EDIPAW JO JUSLLIDNIIDS
SIY2UDQ JUSWAINIDY

Joue)sisse Jaloy

$3502 Y3jesH



E£T/TTOT/LSNWAEY

JeJ2uan Jo)pny pue 18]j0J3uo)

FAN!
000°00¢ ‘98 000°0s L6 000‘00£ ‘98 000°‘0EP*L6
000°S0P*60% 00G 20V L1L) 000°‘G0v‘60€ 005 L0b L1
000°686°226°GL  SSLL9L‘O9E‘LL 000‘€ES€06°TT 8091987281
000°£907LE - 000°290°71€ -

000°)¥8°€79°T)

000°€19°8£6
000°861 ‘8l
00007189
000°/0£ 82
000Z6L°Z1
000167 L6 )

196057096
659°0V9 €68
GT79°/0£°6£9
010°084°G
000°009°¢8
8ch‘c88 st
000°96%°07
00L476°€S
9Ge 6/ 0T

000°18°£29°TL

000°£GS¥98°L
00078618}
00007189
000°20€°8C
000°T61°/1
000°1ST 1L6°)

296°0ST'709°6
659°0¥9 ‘€68
996 6¥5 0817
0L0°08L°S
000009 %8
9y £88°8¢
00096+ 07
001276°¢S
9G£6/7°0T
716119978

086°8¥0VL LY

086°8F0°VLL Y

(09£168°67¢)
(09¢ 148 62¢)

obE ‘006 SHY'y

(09£°158°6Z¢)
(09£°158°6Z¢)

OFE ‘006 CHY Y

- 09¢°168°6Z¢ - 09£°168°67¢
. 086°8P0PLLY - 086°'8P0‘VLLY
L9¥L6L°LT0'E 69T°v61°£0Z°E 000°L6L°LT0°E 91LZ°986‘VLT'E

L9¥°16L°LT0°E

(44114
SZL
1snw

697761 €0T°¢E

€207
SZL1

000°16.°470°

207
SZ1
J3.1vaITOSNOD

917'986° VLT E

€207
SZ1L

S99 Uone.sisay
S)I3Lo4
s1|9Jo) pue salyjeuad ‘saul) ‘sa9q *g¢

s1334enb JusWLISA0S JO JUBI WO1Y NUDADY
$934 UoPLN] woly s1diaday

$99) voneulwexs woly sidleaay

$93) Asuejnsuod woyy 1d130ay

$33) jduosuel]

Aauowl 2gnd Jo Aiaaoday

Sa8J4eyD JejuU3p puk jR2IP3W Wolj sydieay
$29) auelnsse Ajend)

S3LIeuo|}e)s pue SUOLIBPOWIWOIDR ‘Sjeaw
£33} Uopenpels)

99} UOLIDNIISUO))

suojjoesue.] a8uRYIXS WOLY SNUIASY "§E

Alejsuow uou - sjuels anuaAlY
$537

Al2)3uow uou - sjuess anusAdy

1220] JuUaWdo)aAap JURIB JUSWILLISAOD
sjuels anuaaay */¢

dIM - 24MPNa3s Jeyl0
$53.1804d Ul YJom Joj) JudwAed ‘9¢

1SOJON MOJJYse)



€T/TT0T/LSNWNY

eloua) 03PNy pue 18)]0J3u0)

€Ll

000°091‘€G 000°0F6 8¢S 000°091L ‘€S 000°0k6°85
# 000°0vS‘s - 000°0FS‘E
: £19°70¢0PE 9/T'P88 651 995 ‘689°GES
LoV 965 8¥Z L) 12678V 19°6) LoV 966 8T 21 T6'Pr8'rI9‘6lL
000°69€°6Z 000°GEL LT 00/°€6£°08 LLLP86 ST
000°006 000°000°G 000006 000°000°G
- 005°2/8 - 006 /48
000°7TIS0LZ LY 678°SSS‘P66°LL 000°ZLS‘0LT LY 678°SSS V66 L1
89%915°¥I8 V1 VE6'6¥L‘TT9°9L 89r‘918°vI8 YL rE6°67L 77991
€/8°707'618 016G0L‘95E°L €£8°407°518 006°G0/8G€°1
LLZ'9%€082°0T G86°660°C1 LLZ9¥E‘087 0T G86°660°¢C1
8kt LbP ‘08¢ S - 8PV I 08E ‘S -
000°9¥¥°887 ‘7 GEQ'GGLT6L 000°9vP°‘88Z°C GER'GGLT6L
000°7+0°008°1 000°T¥0°008°1
- 00€‘2bT . 00£°4¥2
000°9ZESL 000°9Z€ ‘sl

LOZ 9¥6 “20E L0Z'9p6 70€
000°216°C - 000°216°T -
00058698 00S‘7£G6‘86 00068698 005°7€5°86
000°€ov‘8rL L95°0/¥ 061 000°SO¥ ‘8b) 19604 061
000°T¥8 91 LST66E°19 000°T¥8°£9) LGT'66£°19
000°1£6°99 010°0968€ 1L 000°1£699 010°096°8€ 1
000°S0L‘G6€ 00S‘LEBPLT 000602 S6€ 005°L£8°PLT
20T £207 7207 £707
S7Z1 SZ1 SZ1 SZ1

lsnw A3aLvariosNoD

A3Le)3

SUCLINGLIIUO3 pue suoleuo(

SIDR.IIUOD SJURAISS JIALD

SIUBAIDS IAD)

siainoge) jense?)

DURMOI|e SI0SSISSY

2aUEMOYe BUiDY

sjiyouaq asAojdwa pue saeles ‘saepm ‘7

JuSWNoWa 1euosiad 10J uoJUAQNS

S98.RYD J9Y]0 10J UOLIUSAQNS

UBl2104 JusWdo)aASP JURIS JUSWILIDAOL)

1220) JUBWdoSASP JuRIS JUIWIUIDAGH

S31IUS JUSWILISAOS I13YJ0 WO.lJ UCKIUSAQNS * L

3NU3A3I B30

a)1qealadal apeJd|

334 UOIIEPOWIIDIDR JUSpNIS

Nney eads

SI23Jenb JUSWUIBA0E JO JURJ WO BNUSASY
59) U3y

$93) uoneaijiuapl wouy s3diaday
92U33adwiod Jo a1edy1a0 Wl s1d1aday
s1d1273. snoaue) @Sty

29} uoljesnddy

sNUaAal 1BYI0 ‘OF



eZ/TT0T/LSNW/AY

|edauas Jojpny pue 13)[0Jluo)

VL

00F0€T°1Z 000°651 ‘65 00P*0€Z°1T 00065k ‘64
008°G10° LG - 008°GL0°2G .
5 009°CEE‘ZS . 009°€EL‘Z8
000°0LP‘6Z8°6L  606°LE9°620°0T LT SPPT67°0T 9STLLE'POT LT
. (075‘088°9G1) - (076°088°961L)
. (886‘P60°766°T) " (886°P60°766°7)
000°0LP‘6Z8'6L  LLP LO9'8LLET VT ShP 76707 ¥9LT6T ESEPT
000°006‘Z 000074 000005 000074
009069 00£°4£0'9 009069 00£‘£20‘9
66%'945°CE GTLESEELT 66V 9757 GZ)EGE‘ELT
- 000°0LZ°L - 000°0£7°L
005796 8t 086°9£69ZS 00S‘ZLT‘T9% 086978°0bS
€€ IP6‘PS9 068v6. VI8 CEE /PO PSO 0S8 ‘P6L VI8
061°GL0°L¥ DE8‘Z19°8S 0616906k 0S¥‘001 V29
000°080°1 000°00¢ 000°080°} 000°00€
LI0PT9'9EE : LI0V79°9E€ .
000‘078°€1 000°GPL LY 000°078°€1 000°syL 1L
005971622 00Z‘€T6'6F 005971 ‘67T 00Z°€Z6 6k
LWPE1ET L6 TLLVPBL VL)L WELET L6 TLLY8LLLL
- 000°0S0°G SPTTLE90T £91°1Z€°cET
000°GE0° 1L 000°008°1 1) 000‘GE0°‘LL 000008111
000°000° 101 686€G6'GLE 000008°Z)1 686 €SLLTE
655 vr0‘6L1 000‘8G¢E ‘GEE 665 r0‘6L) 000°85£‘GEE
00000004 00000004 000°000°0Z 000°000°0Z
0000018 000968 ‘8 000°001L ‘8 000968 ‘8K
000°626°60Z 926066 ‘9LE 000682977 986°06G ‘GRS
7707 £707 rAA114 £707
y41 SZ1 SZ.L SZL

1SNwW Q3LvdInosNOD

uoteslignd pue BuisijoApy
UOIJRPOLLILLIODDY

S3[1[][Dk) BDUSIBJU0Y

8DIA19S pue 5poos Jo asn ‘¢

wreys yels
92.N0S 1 SUOLIPNP3P YSeD LON

$531/PPY

OURMO) R WO
doueMmoY e Jodsuel]
2URMOY R JIUBISISINS
aduemone jeradg

aouemone Suis

aouemole ALqisuodsay
SaILUeMO)|E |RUOLSSD)OId
URMO| R IYINO

J1E1s 901A19S Teuolielado
JUBMO)|R 11D UQ

sasuadxa Sulaow

]9ARI] 3ARDT

2ouemole dyswiajuj
2oUBMOIR BUISNoH

BLI2JOUoH

33UeMmo)je peo) Bulyoeay AAeaH
aimiuing

82UBMO}E Lo IR
Anp-enx3



Sl

0056658
L79°€57°97
00006k

LGL 98L°616¢)
0P8°986 ‘g5
€L9°2£0°ELL

000‘0E6°E
0005128
000PEZ°L

£91L°0LLPLE
0TTcL8E)

£10°06¥‘701
000°006‘8
000°005°1Z
9L/GL 6
ZLLVOPSTL
00€°/86°00)
000°000°L1
LVLVIT SPT
00017y
09 TH621L
9£Z°0TS 17T

87l ‘6L 101
00Z°3€T°L)
T PSTIbT
000°181L°1S
0LL L10YY
7707
S7Z1

1Snw

899¢£0°GT
989°CLSy
00Z'VLL‘G

186 0P8 VT L

OvE‘ 269065
GIR‘BTLPE

000°0PE‘ZL
000°000°6€)
0000002
00S8°1£8°¢
£F9 P01 “69€
00001
000°009°1
199°€88°/ 11
061°66Ly
091P8E ‘vT
606°707°L
00Z‘068°961
LIy ‘ob8‘ese
000°00% ‘O€
TET00LTET
0008922
90¢‘giy‘cE
7€9°056°152
0000021
008460 67
SOV 70L°LLL
G686V 00p
00090878
09.°LEE b
890°G05L0L
€207

Szl

£L/TTOTL/LSNW Y JE42US9 I03IpNY pue 13)j0.a3u0)
00G°66£8 899Y£0°9Z syde.ds)a) pue s3soq
£79°€67°92 989‘CLSY 104334
000°0SH 00T'vL)‘9 ug19i0) - WaLp I3
LELO8L ‘Y661 ¥90°vL6 7191 2ISWOP - WALP Jad
LTV ELL L8y OF€ 786009 (se21ai8s Aundas pue Supues) S9pNIoUL) $3502 BULDINOSING
€/p‘888vT1 GZ8'vr0 8E (saleuOnEYS
pue suad ‘spouad  ‘siaded)  s9jqewinsuod 240
000‘0£6°€ 000°0PE‘T) sauizeSew pue siadedsmapn
000°G1£°.8 000°000°6£ 1L sagieyd ajnqow
000°7ET‘/ 000°000°Z Buieays pue Aipune
000‘68F € £G1°€10°L Juawdinba a1geinp-uou yews Alojesoqe
£91L°0LLYLE £P9°P0L ‘69 SUOLIJaUUOD |[BWS pUe J9UIaYY|
0Z7°€L8°€) 000°0L¥ sarjddns yendsoH
- 000°009°1 sanyoe) Buluiely Jo Suuty
£91°6/9°67) £6£°999°0¢ 1 (039 “xey Aemjtes ‘snq) yoAesy punoss
0000068 06L°6S/ Y (493eMm ‘upesy ‘snq) piodsuesy punoun
000°00§°1Z 091 v8E ‘v sazid pue s19
ILL51 6 606°702°L uoiesiwng
7/£°681°9L 007°590°£61 SIUBLIYSSIJD puR Poo
00€°/8G6°C0) 716'648°G/T SLOREIQD)3D pue sjeAl3say ‘uolquyg
0b0‘659°6 1 000°00£‘0€ JuawIeUaIU3
LLLLIT EPT Ly E0L EET Ayo1noag
000°LZE Y 000°99Z°/ Suwwessoud Suiiseapeolq A3 pue olpes Jeuoniesnpy
09 “TP6 L1 90€ ‘8L ‘GE S3UIPAW pue snig
8TV °£82°60¢ LZL80T Trs 19531
- 000°00Z°1 S9DLAIDS ISLINOY)
87 ‘6L L0 008‘V60°‘67 $311055922€ pue saddns Ja3ndwoy
00Z°8eT L1 S9F‘T0L LLL aJemyos Jandwor
4 TA 2 TAR 74 G68°6LF 00F saliddns 8ulyoes) woousse)
0¥9°76°SS 008°2£698 SIS SuLIaIEY
: 09L°LEEVE $3553113W puP pag
OLL LLOYY 890605201 SO} 19ARS} ATy
(44114 £207
SZ1 SZ1

d3.LvanosNoD



9Ll

(91168)
€T6‘VL0‘EL8°)
815‘780‘¢8

(£sp206°8L)

VTANFAS MA'
702°86¥°9)
(816°02£°78)
PSO‘ErL‘GLL

£T/TT0T/LSNW/BY jetauan Jollpny pue Jajjosuo)
(917'c8) 02£7€9°T8 uonuIBY
£26'PL0°€L8°) 707°86v 91 $9LIBUOLYRIS PUR UOIIRPOLULICIIR ‘Sjea
815‘¥80°E8 (816°0££°78) 21qeAlasal asadw
- Alojuaaul - sielsarew Suipjing

(£sk°206°8L)

bSO‘ErLGLL

LLEPLEL8E‘S 162798866 6 879Y50°8£8°6 LLLLB9EES 0L
000°019°C r4%: 374 000°019°C 18°ShL
GEV €8S ‘COY 685692 ‘PSE VLL'B6L ALY 667°56085¢
000°00 ‘T 000°766°S 00000+ ‘T 000¥66°S
e £61659°€6S - €61 669°€SS
880°078°765°T G1L°680°TE 8800767657 GLL'GG0TE
% $00°6£8°701°1 - 00‘6£8°T01°)
160681 ‘60€ G6T°€9L9/1 168°CE9VLE 66708961
- GZE70L - GZE70L
000°00F ‘¥ 1L 000°0£6 000001 ‘¥1 00006
- 0£8°9£6 80K - 0£8°9£680F
00G‘€G6°CLL 86€‘BET v 00S‘€S6°ELL 86£8ETPE
0L6‘szL ST 0S0°‘€8€°690°) 0L6°9ZL ‘ST 050°€8£°G90°)
0SL‘GE6‘EE9 000°000°01 0S1°G£6°CE9 000°000°0L
00§8°LLT'% 00L‘CL6°) 00S°2LT'y 00LEL6°)
- Lr6 204 PET - L6 0L VET
000°6E6 €9 692875966 000°G£6°€9 69L°87£°966
006°768°28 005‘€89°pST 006768°75 005‘€89PST
000°88L°Z 0000052 000887/ 000°006°/
- 000°00¥*Z - 0591828
709976708 .

000‘0rKS‘0€ 000°0vT 9T 000°0¥S‘0E 000°0¥Z 97
£78°00L 6V ) LEV CLPTLL £78°00L 6V1 VeV QLY TLL
. 00Z'v68‘L 095°69£‘E 00Z°€EZ 61
70T £207 7107 €207
SZ1 SZ1 SZ1 SZ1

1snw Q31varosNod

wawdinbs pue jeuaiew Sulpjng
(1e11ded Suppom ui aBueyd) ss3)/ppy

sasuadxy

SlWsIe] pue s3aDLAISS X319 ‘QUoYd31a] ‘sS)adM ‘DU
saBieyd Jajem

S9SSaUP 1RIUOWSISY pUe SULIoIUN
saouemolje dasydn

S93J uopLn|

SleLalew uuleld |

saDuURMO e Bulutel]

sHooqixaL

(saur) pue)) sedueyd auoydaja)
$89) 9IIAIDS JRIUYIS ]

sjeLiIs1ew 1eauyla ]

593} uotyduosqns

s|eaw Juapms

salddns Bujiodg

Buwy0d pue swuojiun jetads
sanddns Auojeloge) s)ooyss
UOLJeLISSSIP PUR UIIeasay
UCLIRPOLIWODDR IIYJ0 - JUIY
$1eal pue 1RIMIO00) ‘BUIYIO)D SAIISI01d
S2IUBMO)TE JBUOISS}01d

ler23ew Sululid

3503 Bultdodojoyd pue Supuuy
Jaded Adooojoyd pue Bunuug



1eJausn Joypny pue J3jjoJjuo)

£T/TTOT/LSNWAIY
Ll

000°906 61 L 8L0°189p8 000°906°61 | 8L0°L89‘P8
000906611 810°189°¥8 00090661 ) 8L0°189°v8
000°250‘TSH ELLCOR LT L61°S0V 989y 8r6T66'0EPS
896°0£1° 1T 009°7/59¢ 896°0EV°1LT 009720°TF
000008 - 000008 :
ILP0LT L6 0%E“LLSTIL 9P LT L6 09€119°2LL

866° 1Ty a7 T4 aliT4
822961V 000°Z61 812961 %L 000°Z61
" 000°00T°L - 000°00Z°L
- 000005 ‘¥ . 000005t
870°v0/ ‘b8 060°8SF°1S 820°v0Lp8 060°85F° LS
9.7 6169 EEL9T9VT 9/¥'616'91 ££2°916°GT
- 006°LLZ Y - 006°LLTY
A3 000°60Z‘1L n 000°607°1
1G6°€E1L°G GZ8°9er L)L (I NA XA AR 765 'SP 09€ ‘S
000°0b6‘8 - 000°0P6‘8 -
. 000°000°s - 000°000°S
£2€°109°807 GOT6TL'PLL AN TR AN 6T6'EPL 1081
000°'84¥‘80Z°7)  ¥TL‘E€E0LTO8‘L OFLLT0‘680°VL 0.5°606°Tr6‘8
981 P61 ‘v 950°€1L1L 8 981 ‘p6l ‘vE 9G60°€1L1‘8
(06£°629°)2) 91y ¥60°LL (0S£°6£9°12) 9Ly Y60 LL
9/7°761°996°) (LrL'SI¥ 2660 0L 196°66E°T (0Z€‘£89850°¢)
000°9Z‘SL (000°¥S8‘VL) 000°9Z£°GL (000758 71}
70T €207 7207 €207
SZ1L SZ1 SZ1L SZ1

1snw d31varosNod

sauaq e1d0s ‘g

SUBO] DIISSLLIOP L0 3S3.423U]
sasuadxa 1saJ9u| ‘G

$SLI933eq pue saJAL

SWISISAS Xgyd 321440 pUe ssuoydaja)

sued aueds

sjuawadwl pue syo03 jewsS

2NNy Jo aoueuajuewl pue aeday

sainjxy pue sanddns Sulqwnid

s191dod0joyg

1Jeld ISIEM pUB SO)DLYIA J0JOW

sled aseds J1UOND3]S pUR 1eDLIIB}S ‘|RILLBYISW
Bwdinba uooa304d 2414

sjeliazew sunged 1ay3jo pue 1RO

{211y 1enses Jo padesiued) Jnoge] 102419
uawdinbs paje)as

Jaindwod sayio pue ‘sisuueds ‘siquud  “siaindwo?)
S|eLI1RW LOLIINIISUOD pUR SHILI ‘JUBLIS)
sleualewl BuipIing pue syILIq ‘Juawen

sasuadxs aduruIUIRY ‘P

3jqeied xe) Supjoyyum

93} uoljng|

$31A195 pue Spoos o sanddng
1ney epdads



£2/2T0T/1SNWAIY Jedausay Jolipny pue Jajjoljuo)
3Ll

000820°GLS 6¥Z2960°1L8L°) rr 611 0GE°L LOE‘EPLTTE )
- - 666°6F1 98705, JUSWIUIDA0T JO 1943 JBUJoUR AQ PaLAS) Saxe ]
- 00056111 00F‘659°T 000°G61L°LL sasuadxe Aipuns
’ 000605 10E - 000°G05‘10E $951A49s Uoeuado eroads
065656 . 0656576 = $1502 3)qesinquiay
’ 925 1) . 975‘1£1 $93) uonesisay
- 001811 - 0LP‘0L8 L1 safleyd 1104
000°018 LL6°G8S T/Y 000018 226°988 ULy uoLjeiiqeySl Jeje)seled
000°9££6T £7987£°T8T 000°9L£°62 €79'897£°76Z syusufed Jay3o
- FLLE0G 7L > rLL‘C0G‘T) aoueMO)|e Bubiley
£09°101L99 - L09°10L°99 R 23} BUlIIAIGS puR Juswafeurw RO
£0¥°STL0T - 0LF‘6£8°CL1 YTb LS P 523} |edan
66.°8/8°1L5 887°856°L8 qGLpL817 LY9°TL6°0EL sasuadxa saurInsu
- 000°002 - 000002 $99) 2ouelu3
610'6¥*€0Z G/9°1L090LT 6106V €07 C/9°109°01 sasuadxa uoisiasadns uopesnpy
00006869 000°000°0L1 00005869 000‘000°0LL 99} sJ0paa1q
4 - - 000°00¢ sall)Iqisuodsal jeoos ajelodio)
9/£606°E1 798°S0P 16 92£°606°€) 90¢‘LEETTL WS SAUSBULIUOD

TEL9TL296 $99) Aouelnsuo)
000°9Z¢ ‘8 005°688°67 000°978°07 00568367 sasuadxa Jewng
LTPeLT vL7'686 G61 €50 L18769°1 SUOISSILILIOD PUB S35.eLD yueg
- - 000°000°9 - sasuadxa uoistasadns Jipny
TR E-IRF Y 000°000°G8 ore‘LTLT6 000°761301 $93§ Jpny
099°208°¢1L 000005801 099°208°¢1 000005801 s29) Aousdy

sasuadxs 910 ‘L
000°915°¥S 00S‘TEL YH 000°91S°¥S 00S‘TEL br)
00Z°676°L 00F vOF ‘¥ L 00Z°626°L 00 POF ‘1 SwiLe|a Juauwnedl] jellpoll JO JUsLes
009°678°6€ 001 8¥¥ LTL 009°6Z8°6€ 00L°skP LTL siljauaq Juswiailley
00Z°LL6°S 000°089°£ 00Z°416°S 0000892 ouR)sisse Jaljay
: 000°00Z°1 ; 000007} 53502 Y3jeay
000°08L - 000087 - JusWIeEas) Jedipaw Asussiows
[AAIA €207 [AAird £T07
SZ1 SZ1, SZ1 SZL
1s5nNw azLvailnosNoD



€T/TT0T/LSNW/IY

Jelauag Jolpny pue Jaj|oJjuc)

6L1
- 00G‘2E0°1T - 00§°2E0°1LT
L0V 1Z651Y 610929806 Lo LT6 6Ly 610°9/9°806
006°089°9L6 002 4P 79 006089916 00T Lh¥ 79
- 000°00S ‘LY - 000005 L¥
705°698°€T 000°SPL ‘8 706°698°€7 000°‘SkL‘g
- €LV 8L6°62 - £LV'8L66T
9€0°0L6°8 v19°267°9L 900468 V19°267'9L
000°‘GLE‘E9E‘E 8P L67°669 000°GLE‘E9E°E bV L6T7°669
000°0¥8‘¥LO°L LEGV08‘99¢ 000°0F8‘PLO‘L L£6°P08°99¢
000‘GES‘BVE‘T L6 T6FTIEE 000°‘GES‘BKE‘T LL6‘T6V TES
000°688°96Z°€ . 000°688°96Z°E .
000°S¥£ 996 - 000°5kL 996 .
000P) ‘0EE‘T - 000‘vP1L0EE‘T -
000°000°001 000°000°0S 000°000°001 000°000°0S
000000001 00000005 000000001 000000 05
000°8L0°G.S 6¥.°960°18L°L PETGOEC05°) P06°‘0LE LOV )
764681651 (sov‘7E8‘PLQ)
7707 £207 70T €707
SZ1 SZ1 SZ1 SZL
LSnw Q3LvartosNoD

SIIIIOR) PUR SHIOMIBU ‘SBUIUSD UOLIBDIUNWIWOD BIR(
s1a1dooojoyd pue siajndwo)

sileld pue s3)qe] ‘SaAldYs ‘SHYsap ‘spag
Juswdinba jensta opny

Joposfoud

juswdinbs jeapaw

Hjooq Aleiqi

jJuawdinbae pue jueid ‘Ajsadoud jo uoysinboy ° g

junosoe Jsodap paljddeun
jelauad jisodaq

usodaq Qg

F2

unooe sysodap panddeun
Je19uas susodag

sjuswded 19Y10 ‘gp

(%61) 43 03 uonINgLIUO)

siajsuely JayyQ gy

UOLIINPap Ysed UON
$591/ppY



£T/TTOT/LSNWAY jedauan Jolipny pue u9)j0.4juo)
0¢l

CESIP6ELLS BRY‘ELB9EL‘S £€6°/86°678°S G21°089°TZE’S
006°Z16°LE 000°STy € 005°£16°L€ 000°sZ¥Z€ solpel pue Al
- 000°000°€9 = 000°000°€9 SIOAISS
000°009v ) P06 PH0 v 000°009‘¥L 06 V0 ‘v slauueds pue s1ajulld
(8evv6LLEL) 881 L6781 (8Er‘v6L LEL) 881166°L61 SSULIYL pUe 2INJUINS SO
(6L00€T k1) LEF'6LSTTT (G/0'¥RS°16) LE9°810BET juswdinba 93140
000°150°L " 000°150°Z - $312A21q pue S)H1qI0I10W
" GES96¥9TF Z 778°€9£ 186 ‘S2IMY2A J0JOW
LOL'SSEVLIY LLP‘9LE POV E LOL'GSE P19y LP9LE YOP e sjuswinsuL pue juswidinba Alojeloge
000°000°G1 . 000°000°S) - Juswdinbs AnesH
- (ZF0‘6£9°YTL) ’ (ZF0'6£9 VYY) (019

sdojde) ‘sdoypysaq "oul) Juawidinba pue siaAIRS ;2Jempley
- 685V LEL - 688 LIV ILEL wswdinba Surjeisuss Aisug
7207 €207 [AAVA €207
SZL SZL SZL1 SZ1

LSNW G3.LvaiiosNOD



52. ADVANCE RECEIVED

CONSOLIDATED MUST
2022/23 2021/22 2022/23 2021/22
TZS TZS TZ5 TZS
Advance received 70,425,960 - - 5
70,425,960 = 2 )

53. FINANCIAL RISKS

Risk is an inherent feature of the activities of any entity. The University endeavours to
manage risk by having in place appropriate functional structures, systems and procedures.
These structures, systems and procedures evolve continuously in response to changes in the
environment in which the Authority operates. The following are the main types of the risks
the Board is exposed to in the course of executing its operations:

e Credit risk;
e Currency risk; and
e Liquidity risk

a. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the University if counterparties to financial
instruments fail to meet their contractual obligations. The risk principally arises from the
University’s investments, trade and other receivables as well as cash and cash equivalents.

The University does not regard there to be any significant concentration of credit risk. The
University mitigates the credit risk by maintaining cash and cash equivalents with reputable
financial institutions; and recovering staff debts in terms of the applicable regulations
directly from the employee’s salary and/or pension. Furthermore, students joining the
University on private sponsorship are required to pay tuition fees before registration.

The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed
by reference to historical information about counterparty default rates. The amount that
best represents the University’s maximum exposure to credit risk at 30 June 2023 and 30
June 2022 is the carrying value of its financial assets in the statement of financial position.

No collateral is held for any of these assets. The University does not grade the credit quality of
receivables. The carrying amount of the financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure.

As at 30 June 2023 the maximum exposure to credit risk was as follows.

Neither past Past due Past due
due not but not and Total

impaired impaired impaired
TZS TZS TZS TZS
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Cash and cash
equivalents 24,844,155,117 - - 24,844,155,117
Receivables 3,290,233,473 - 82,201,584 3,372,435,057

As at 30 June 2023 28,134,388,590 82,201,584  28,216,590,174

Cash and cash

equivalents 28,529,701,416 - - 28,529,701,416
Receivables 2,120,102,936 - - 2,120,102,936
As at 30 June 2022 30,649,804,352 - - 30,649,804,352

b. Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of
changes in foreign exchange rates. The University’s operations utilize functional currency;
hence no currency risk is expected.

¢. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the University faces by not having adequate funds to settle day
to day obligations as they fall due. The University has a prudent liquidity risk management
through which it maintains sufficient cash to cover committed credit facilities received,
working capital as well as capital project requirements. Liquidity risk management by the
University includes proper fund planning and close monitoring by the finance department.
The table below is an undiscounted cash flow analysis for both financial assets and financial
liabilities that are presented in the statements of financial position according to their
contractual maturities at the statement of financial position date.

54. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

Identification of related parties

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party and
exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating decisions. In
the normal course of business, a number of transactions are entered into with related parties.
The University related parties are the University Council members, key management personnel
and its subsidiary.

Key management personnel:

The key management personnel, as defined by IPSAS 20 Related Party Disclosures, are all
directors or members of the governing body of the entity; and other persons having the
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the
reporting entity.

Below are transactions and balances with related parties as at reporting date:

122

Controller and Auditor General AR/MUST/2022/23



LA AR - TSR LU LA A G aTA wrT e,
s e A VT e AR T
2023 2022
Transactions with related parties TZS TZS
Transactions
(a) Council member fee and allowances 110,000,000 69,850,000
{b) Key management remuneration
Salaries 1,214,837,000 1,214,837,000
Responsibility allowance 824,794,850 654,947,333
Electricity allowance 58,940,000 53,160,000
Communication allowance 139,000,000 87,315,000
Entertainment allowance 30,300,000 19,659,000
Furniture allowance 70,000,000 70,000,000
Housing allowance 111,800,000 71,035,000
2,449,671,850 2,240,803,333

55. EXPLANATIONS OF DEVIATION BETWEEN ACTUAL AND BUDGETED AMOUNTS
(i) Revenue grant

During the reporting period, 63% of revenue grants was not used due to unimplemented project
expected to be implemented under HEET project (The project was at execution stage of
procuring consultant and contractors) and expected revenue for furnishing students’ hostel
were not collected from the Government.

(ii) Revenue from exchange transactions

During the reporting period, 26% of revenue from exchange transaction was not collected due
to the fact that these transactions depend of the need of client.

(iii)) Maintenance expenses

During the reporting period, 34% of expenditure in respect of maintenance was not utilized as
collections were made at the end of the financial year.

(iv) Acquisition of Property, Plant and Equipment

During the reporting period, 86% of expenditure was not utilized as there are still
commitments on progress of MUST projects of which their funds are carried forward.

56. BUDGET RECONCILIATION

TZS
Surplus per statement of financial performance 10,139,448,897
Surplus per budget 6,297,903,104
Difference 3,841,545,793
57. COMPARATIVE FIGURES
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Comparative figures have been re-grouped whenever considered necessary in order to make
them comparable with the current reporting date

58. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

58.1 Contingent liabilities

There were no contingent liabilities as at the reporting date.

The University expects to compensate the community that currently resides at MRCC. The plot
is currently being surveyed to establish the compensation; when the exercise completed there
is a contingent liability

58.2 Capital commitments

The University had the capital commitments amounting to TZS 19,296 million towards the year
end 30 June 2023 which were received from MoEST. A total of TZS 16,845 million was HEET
project funds, TZS 2,451 million was funds for the construction of student’s hostel, library
phase Il and procurement of laboratory equipment.
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Appendix |

Entity Name: Mbeya University of Science and Technology (MUST)

Financial Year: 2022/23

LIST OF TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES WITH OTHER GOVERNMENT ENTITIES FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2023

Goods /Services
SN received
1 Water

2 Electricity
Quality Assurance and

3 annual fees

4 Fuel and Stationery

5 Bandwidth services
Telephone and Internet

6 charges

7 Postal Services

8 Annual Subscription fee

9 Drugs and medicines

10 Participation fee
Statutory inspection for
11 general workplace

12 NHIF Student Card

13 Loan and Interest
Title deed and deed
14 surrender fee

15 Insurance

Total

Name of Entity provided
goods/services

URBAN WATER AND SEWERAGE
MBEYA

TANESCO

TCU

GOVERNMENT PROCUREMENT
SERVICES AGENCY

TANZANIA COMMISSION FOR
SCIENCE AND TECHNOLOGY
TANZANIA TELECOMMUNICATIO
NS CORPORATION

TANZANIA POSTS CORPORATION
PUBLIC PROCUREMENT REGULA
TORY AUTHORITY

MEDICAL STORE DEPARTMENT
NATIONAL COUNCIL FOR TECHN
ICAL EDUCATION

OSHA

NATIONAL HEALTH INSURANCE
FUND CONTR

TANZANIA INVESTMENT BANK

(TIB)
MINISTRY OF LANDS

National Insurance Corporation

Amount Paid

318,518,628.50
215,536,805.60

277,186,000
673,253,800
14,400,000

129,547,538.43
10,523,600.00

1,500,000.00
46,263,149.34
4,700,000
3,610,000

12,140,036.40
227,438,161.00

31,896,797.55

81,958,788.00
2,048,473,304.82

Payable balance

35,750,970
16,563,426.38

7,200,000

27,852,636.44
428,300.00

87,795,332.82

/W AC- 03 . 10LY
Accounting Officer Date
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